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Friday, July 20, 2012

--- On commencing at 9:35 a.m.

MS. HARE:  Good morning.  Please be seated.


Do we have any preliminary matters?


MR. SMITH:  No, Madam Chair.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Then, Mr. Quinn, we're ready for your cross-examination, resumption of your cross-examination.

UNION GAS LIMITED - PANEL 4, RESUMED

Carol Cameron, Previously Sworn

Pat Elliott, Previously Sworn

Bill Fay, Previously Sworn

Mark Isherwood, Previously Sworn


Chris Shorts, Previously Sworn
Continued Cross-Examination by Mr. Quinn:

MR. QUINN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Good morning, panel.  I thought I would start off where -- part of your examination-in-chief dealt with an issue that I think is important to make sure we understand, and then we will move back through the cross-examination.


Yesterday Union led some evidence about its application of the DOS MN service from 2008 to 2009, and I guess I would like to ensure the Board understands this service and how it was used and the cost implications.


So what I would like to do is just give you a brief summary of what I understood the service to be, and, Mr. Isherwood, to the extent I missed something, please help me out.


From yesterday's transcript, you basically said:

"...they offered that service basically, being transportation service from Empress Alberta to Dawn, at basically the firm commodity rate only, which is very low on TransCanada.  Most of their tolls earn the demand charge and fuel."


So stopping there just to clarify, there was no demand charge associated with the DOS MN service?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. QUINN:  So going on, it says:

"For that year we had, in our gas supply plan, planned to buy gas at Dawn.  So instead of buying gas at Dawn at the Dawn price, we actually bought gas at Empress and flowed it on this inexpensive transport to Dawn.  And the gas savings, the savings between what was in the plan versus what we had landed the gas at Dawn, was put through the transportation exchange account as an optimization activity. "


So this was the 2008 DOS MN service?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That was the service in place for the winter of 2008/2009, and the second service for 2009/'10.


MR. QUINN:  And the distinguishing feature of 2009/'10 was that the DOS MN service started with a receipt point of Emerson, as I remember?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, there are two things that distinguished the second year of service compared to the first.


The first was the same volume for the whole winter period.  It went from Empress Alberta to Dawn.  In the second year of the service, which was for the winter 2009/'10, it started at Emerson, which is basically at the Manitoba border where Great Lakes comes off and goes through the States.  So it went from Emerson to Dawn.


The monthly amount -- actually, the amount of capacity you got was changed every month based often how much TCPL needed each of those five winter months, so a variable amount, which made it a little less valuable.


We would have treated that differently than we did the first year.  The first year was as I described, and that's how -- that's how it impacted the 2008 year, I guess.


And the second year, because of the variable amount, instead of moving gas to Dawn, we just actually sold the capacity we had as an exchange.  So we would have sold from Emerson to Dawn as an exchange service.


So we had the same -- the same capacity.  We got to the financial benefit a little bit differently using an exchange service, which is why the transportation and exchange account was the appropriate way to go.


MR. QUINN:  You're speaking of for 2009?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  The second year, that's right.  We could have done that in the first year.  We had that choice.  We had a choice of do the exchange or move the gas in displaced on purchases.


MR. QUINN:  I will deal with the second one.  Just a very brief question, but we will land on the first one again.  So in 2009, all of the transactions were handled, as I hear, through the transportation exchange account.  So there was no gas supply ratepayer implications?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  We took the benefit that was provided under the DOS MN and we sold it as an exchange.


MR. QUINN:  So is it accurate the way I said it, that there was no gas supply ratepayer implications in the 2009 --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I'd say there is no application in either year -- no implications in either year.


MR. QUINN:  I want to go back to 2008 so we understand how there was not a ratepayer implication on that.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.


MR. QUINN:  So you purchased the service at Empress, and -- sorry, you purchased your gas at Empress and you used the inexpensive transport to get it to Dawn as opposed to purchasing landed gas at Dawn?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So what I was trying to understand, then, is there obviously was a cost of that service.  There was a cost of your gas at Empress.


But was there an -- maybe it is for you or for Ms. Elliott.  How did you determine what revenue would go into the transportation exchange account?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It would be the difference between the gas at Dawn and the gas we bought at Empress and moved to Dawn using the DOS MN service, which would have included some fuel and a small commodity charge.


MR. QUINN:  So I want to be clear that we break this down and possibly, if helpful -- you're saying the price at Dawn, so what price at Dawn did you use as a proxy for what you would have already -- what you would have foregone by transporting from Empress to Dawn on the DOS MN service?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I'm not sure of the exact numbers, Mr. Quinn, but that was the principle that was applied.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And I respect that that is some years ago, but how the calculation -- more than the numbers, how the calculation was effected is more what I am trying to get at.


Maybe by way of undertaking, could you provide the calculations for the winter of 2008 that show the cost of gas and the transport, and how you netted out or how you used what I would probably term to be an avoided cost of purchasing at Dawn to effect a revenue and transportation exchange account?


MR. SMITH:  Members of the Panel, I have the following concern about that request.  I mean, the DOS MN service, we're using account.  It is not synonymous with deferral account, because obviously we heard the evidence that the transportation deferral account was closed.  We're talking about a ledger.


But, in any event, all of that information would have been the subject of the 2008-0220 account, where the issue arose whether or not that should be treated as a Y factor or if it should just flow through earnings sharing, and the Board determined it should flow through earnings sharing.


So the question of the appropriateness of that treatment has long since been resolved.  So I guess that's my reservation with the undertaking.


MS. HARE:  Mr. Quinn, do you have a reply to that?


MR. QUINN:  Yes.  I actually spent some time in 2008-0020 before this proceeding, and I thought it was actually more appropriately going to be coming at us in the 0087 proceeding.


I was surprised that it made the record yesterday, so if we're going to deal with it in this proceeding, I think it is important to have an evidentiary basis to distinguish the 0220 decision from what, in fact, is occurring today.


So part of this is the accounting in terms of how a revenue was created for the transportation exchange account from landing gas supply on behalf of ratepayers.


I understand and I respect that I have been told that ratepayers did not pay for an additional cost.  That's Union's view, and I accept that, but how they actually calculated it, they would have had to have presumed a cost at Dawn and said, That's the cost we would have paid, and now here are other costs we actually did pay, and what is the difference and how did it go into the account?


MS. HARE:  Let me understand how this is relevant to setting rates in 2013 on a cost of service basis.


MR. QUINN:  Our proposition as we have been going through this is there are more effective ways of providing gas supply to Union's customers here in Ontario.


Union has talked about its gas supply plan and the principles behind its gas supply plan, and, as we were talking about yesterday - and we will hopefully reveal a little bit more today - the gas supply plan and how it is used/optimized is a huge source of transportation exchange revenue at this time.


In our view -- and we've already gone through it.  We're not going to ask them to redo the gas supply plan, but for the Board to clearly understand how the plan comes together, how it is actually being used, and, frankly, if it is being used that way, why isn't it being planned that way, is very material to what their 2013 plan ought to be, or could evolve for 2014 if there are costs of unwinding what's already in place for 2012/2013.


We understand we don't want to bear any -- throw good money after bad, but the reality is the market is telling Union Gas that there are much cheaper ways of getting gas to Ontario, and ratepayers aren't benefitting in the plan that they have.  The shareholder has been benefitting, and we would like to have ratepayers benefit more equitably in the process.


MS. HARE:  Mr. Smith.


MR. SMITH:  Well, I appreciate the long preview of my friend's argument, but the response to that is the DOS MN service doesn't exist anymore.  So I guess I still wonder about the utility of us going back and redoing calculations that would have been done some time ago, when we're talking about 2013 rates.  That is the simple response to it.


MS. HARE:  Just a second.


[Board Panel confers]

MS. HARE:  Mr. Thompson?

MR. THOMPSON:  Can I make a brief submission on this before you rule?

MS. HARE:  We've already decided.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.

MS. HARE:  Yes, Mr. Thompson, please.

[Laughter]


MR. SMITH:  Do I get to respond?

MS. HARE:  Well, actually I should have asked if other parties wanted to make a submission, so...

 Yes, Mr. Thompson.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, the only point I wanted to make - and I will be touching on this in my cross-examination - is that the company, in correspondence that is in my material, has been taking the position that this DOS MN event is the precedent that justifies them streaming these $40 million of -- $67 million to earnings.

So if they're abandoning that position, that's fine.  But if they aren't, I think we should have some understanding of the differences between that transaction and this on the record.

MS. HARE:  Sorry, Mr. Smith.  Before I go to you, is there any other party that wants to comment on this issue?

Mr. Brett?

MR. BRETT:  Yes.  Very briefly, just to say I think Mr. Thompson's exactly right.  The importance of this is the context and the fact that it's being used as –- that they're preparing to use it as a precedent in argument for similar treatment of the 67 million.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Smith?

MR. SMITH:  There are two answers to that.

The first is -- well, really three points.

We're obviously going to get into this, but the premise of Mr. Thompson's submission is incorrect.

And why I felt it was important to lead the examination yesterday, we are not saying that this all began with the DOS MN service, as it will certainly be our position at the end of the day that Union has been engaged in exchange activities for the past 20 years, and it's been treated the same way and there's nothing magical about an exchange involving FT RAM.  That's number one.

Number two, yes, that during the incentive regulation, the DOS MN service was treated in a comparable manner by the Board.

And answer number three is this goes back to the concern I expressed the other day at the very outset of cross-examination when I saw my friend's materials, that this case is not about revisiting the IR parameters and trying to undo earnings sharing calculations.

This case is about 2013 rates.  And so I do have a very serious concern about my friends obtaining information for collateral purposes.

If the Board wants the calculation, we will provide it, certainly.  We can do it and we will do it, but I did want to make sure that that was perfectly clear.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Quinn, can you repeat your undertaking request?

MR. QUINN:  By way of undertaking, could Union Gas produce the calculations which show how the DOS MN revenue generation was determined, and that ratepayers were kept whole in these transactions.

MS. HARE:  The Board is interested in seeing the response to that undertaking request.

MR. SMITH:  We will do that, then.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Thank you.

We're also interested in understanding how the reference price at Empress was -- sorry, at Dawn was established.

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  J7.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J7.1:  TO PRODUCE CALCULATIONS SHOWING HOW DOS MN REVENUE GENERATION WAS DETERMINED AND RATEPAYERS WERE KEPT WHOLE IN THESE TRANSACTIONS, AND HOW DAWN REFERENCE PRICE WAS ESTABLISHED.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  And panel, if I can draw your attention to the compendium we filed yesterday, it was marked as Exhibit K6.7.

Ms. Cameron took us to the index of customers, which starts on page 2.

If you would turn that up at this time, please?

MS. CAMERON:  We have it.

MR. QUINN:  Now, before we get into the detail of what's on this -- and there's many pages and I won't lead people through the detail, but I guess speaking to you, Mr. Isherwood, I think you and your staff would be aware that this report is produced monthly?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  So you are also aware that TCPL's website keeps an archive of this report for, well, over the last --for each month over the last 10 years?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I have never looked at it, but I will take it, subject to check.

MR. QUINN:  Take it, subject to check?  Okay.

I see Mr. Shorts nodding.  Do you understand that, Mr. Shorts?

MR. SHORTS:  Again, subject to check.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, I ask either of you, if we just look at the top headings -- and I am actually going to work from page 5, because we'll be able to see the detail for Union Gas at the bottom.

But I want to make sure we understand what we're looking at.  It is fairly -- I'm sorry.  It's fairly clear that the service requester is the counterparty to TransCanada in the column, the second column on the left.

But as we move across, we have contract start and end date, service type -- which we spent a bit of time on yesterday -- receipt and delivery points.  But then we get to contracted demand -- contract demand and operational demand.

If I may, our assistant on the referencing, Ryan, if you could just actually go down to the bottom as we look -- well, actually, if you keep it open, the whole open, and then we will zoom down at the bottom -- but on contracted demand and operational demand, my understanding -- and Mr. Shorts or Mr. Isherwood, you can correct me if I'm wrong -- contracted demand is the total amount of the contract that is the respective contract number on the left?

MR. SHORTS:  That would be the total, yes.

MR. QUINN:  So then we have operational demand, shifted quantity and temporary assigned quantity.  I'm only going to deal with operational demand and temporary assigned quantity.

The temporary assigned quantity, as I understand it, is the assignments that a party has undertaken that are a portion or potentially all of that contracted demand; is that accurate?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  And I would just add it is for a temporary basis.  It is not a permanent assignment; it is temporary, but eventually it would be planned to come back to the utility.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So the operational demand, then, would be the net of whatever has been either temporary assigned or shifted?

MS. CAMERON:  That is correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So if I may ask, if we could zoom down to the bottom -- this print is rather small, so the Union Gas contracts are down at the bottom.  This is on page -- yes, page 4 of 5.

Somehow your printout is slightly different than mine, but what I want to focus on is contracts 1048, 1142, which are near the top of that screen.

If you could scroll over, or for the witnesses looking at it, the paper copy, I am focussing on the EDA for Union Gas.  And it starts at, on my version, 1048.

There we are.  Thank you.

So these are FT contracts or STS contracts that are flowing to the Union EDA.  So it is the bottom five rows of that report on page 4 of 5.

So you see that?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So yes, if you just scroll over two more columns, we will be able to see the contracted demand quantity, then, is the fourth column from the left.  And for the first contract, it is 50,426?  Is that correct?

MS. CAMERON:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  And the amount that has been assigned is 40,270, with a net operational demand of 10,156?

Are you on that line with me?

MS. CAMERON:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So this report is dated July 3rd, 2012.  And these are for contracts which are in place for this coming year?  Well, sorry, this coming year being the winter of 2012 and into 2013?

MS. CAMERON:  I would say that this is the current contract demands, actually.  So these are the ones that are currently in place today.

MR. QUINN:  In place today.  And these contracts are still in place to at least a minimum of December 31st, 2013?

MS. CAMERON:  Yes.  And this assigned -- the temporary assigned quantity that we see in the column to the far right refers to quantities that were assigned for the month of July.  It is not a future-looking report.  It is a current report.

MR. QUINN:  So in looking at that figure, you have knowledge of that -- that is only for the month of July?

MS. CAMERON:  This report is referring to the month of July.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Can you tell us if that continues on for any length of time into 2013?

MR. SHORTS:  Mr. Quinn, just to be clear, those assignments, as I mentioned yesterday, not only include anything from an ST perspective, but those would also include those temporarily assigned to direct purchase customers who wanted the T-service option.

So some of those volumes would continue where they were assigned or temporarily assigned to those T-service customers.  And if you add up all of the columns, it is about 25,000 gJs a day that is included in this, in your compendium here, that is actually assigned to those T-service customers.

So those would continue as long as those customers wanted to continue with the T-service option.

MR. QUINN:  But, Mr. Shorts, I think I recall yesterday -- and we can go back to the transcript.  I understood of those T-service customers, about 1,500 gJs is in the EDA?

MR. SHORTS:  No.  Actually, when I look at this, it is a much smaller number.  It is only about -- it's less than 300.

MR. QUINN:  So if we're focussing on the EDA and the 40,000 temporarily assigned --


MR. SHORTS:  No, I just wanted to make that clear that if you're asking the question on an ongoing basis, we do know that those temporary assignments to those customers will continue year over year unless the customer chooses not to continue with the T-service option.  That is all I wanted to make clear.

MR. QUINN:  You gave us a figure of 25,000.  That is in totality for all of Union's delivery areas?

MR. SHORTS:  In the north, yes.

MR. QUINN:  So focussing on EDA, which we have been, of the 40,000, only 300 --


MR. SHORTS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So getting back to my question, can you confirm for us, or would you like to by way of undertaking, what has been assigned for this coming winter and -- or into 2013?

MS. CAMERON:  We have not done any capacity assignments to the EDA for this winter.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, we did the undertaking previously, and we can get some information from that.  So I think I will move on in terms of the specifics here.

MS. HARE:  Can I just ask a question here?  You haven't done any assignments for 2013.  Is that because it is too soon in the year, or because you have decided you're not going to do any?

MS. CAMERON:  Certainly the uncertainty surrounding the continuation of RAM has impacted market demands for those services.

The assignments that we've entered into to this
date -- so when you look at those charts that we have filed that show assignments, whether on a monthly or a seasonal or annual basis, are really driven by RAM and that market demand for the capacity, because they're looking for the credits that they can use anywhere they choose.

Without access to the credits, the market interest in our capacity has declined substantially to near zero.  We can provide the same market service by providing exchange without a requirement to assign any capacity away.

And you will actually see on the undertaking that we filed yesterday, I believe the J3.6, that we hadn't done any assignments to the EDA last winter, either.  It was due, in part, to the lack of certainty around the RAM program.

MS. HARE:  All right, thank you.

MS. TAYLOR:  Just to follow on this discussion, so Union EDA -- I can't see the contract number, but it looks like the -- it is 50,426 gJs.  It's 1048.

MS. CAMERON:  For that particular contract, yes.

MS. TAYLOR:  Right.  So if you could go back over.  Thank you.  It looks like 40,270 of that has been assigned at a snapshot of July.

MS. CAMERON:  Yes.

MS. TAYLOR:  And how long -- so you're saying that the market has no incentive to take an assignment that would extend beyond the estimated or anticipated termination date or option date, if you will, given the NEB outcome?

And that is kind of mid May'ish 2013.  So does that assignment, then, deal with a period prior to?

MS. CAMERON:  Subject to check - I don't have the numbers in front of me - I believe at best we've done assignments to the end of October.

The market was tenuous about what to do about November and December, and then into January, February and March, because I think the end date of RAM, and whether it will end, is still subject to much debate at the NEB.

So there wasn't a lot of market interest.  A lot of people were waiting to see what the results of that proceeding would be.

MS. TAYLOR:  Okay, thank you.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think the point I was trying to make yesterday was TCPL has given the date of May for the full rollout of their plan.

I think the market is not certain if they can terminate FT RAM sooner.  If they could, would they do it sooner?  So there is a bit of a question mark on FT RAM post January 1, 2012 -- 2013, sorry.

MS. TAYLOR:  My issue with the answer was I had no sense of the timing, so whether this was an annual assignment of the contract or monthly, or it is a snapshot as of July.  I had no sense for the length or duration of the assignment of that particular contract.

So what you're telling me is the assignment ends towards the beginning of October --


MS. CAMERON:  It would end October 31st, subject to check.

MS. TAYLOR:  Okay, thank you.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Quinn, I hope our interruption didn't affect your flow of questioning.

MR. QUINN:  No, not at all.  I am trying to create clarity and, if we haven't done that, I appreciate the additional questions.  Thank you.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  If I could add to that, I guess the driver behind that, why do we do that exchange, it is really because the gas and the gas supply plan without FT RAM would flow from Empress to the EDA, but because of FT RAM, by leaving that empty, you actually create credits.

The gas ultimately isn't needed in the EDA in the summertime.  It is needed back at Dawn.  So you would actually move it to Dawn and it is a profitable exercise to do that.  It creates RAM benefits.  That's why it is such a big number for the summer.

MR. QUINN:  So carrying on with that theme, just to ask a follow-up question, to the extent the FT RAM program disappears and you wanted to get that gas back to Dawn, would you be able to, through exchanges, find a way to get that gas back to Dawn and create money through base exchanges?

MS. CAMERON:  We would still -- in that scenario, the gas supply provides that the gas would flow -- we would purchase the gas at Empress.  So without RAM, we would purchase the gas at Empress in both scenarios.

We would transport the gas to the EDA, and then we would use our STS injection service to transport that gas back to Dawn.

Because those costs are still included for ratepayers, if we transported or purchased a service to transport that gas directly from Empress to Dawn, that would only be an additional cost.  There would be no offsetting revenue to offset the cost of transport directly from Empress to Dawn.

MR. QUINN:  Using that scenario, Ms. Cameron, you could do what you just talked about in terms of wanting the gas at Dawn, but you could ask if you could -- if you could find a buyer in the east.  If the gas is worth 40 cents more in the east, you could ask -- you could go through an exchange whereby you could sell your gas in the east to a counterparty that has value in -- the 40 cents in the east, and they would give you the gas back at Dawn.  Is that not correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We don't sell gas.  We don't arbitrage gas at all.  Exchanges are just moving gas from one point to another point.  We don't sell and buy.  As a utility, we can only sell WACOG.  So we don't ever sell gas in the EDA.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you for the clarity, Mr. Isherwood, but under that same scenario, could you do an exchange that would create a revenue-generating opportunity by seeking a counterparty who has need in the east?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  So our transportation and exchange revenue forecast for 2013 is at $9.1 million.  That's to capture any of those one-off type of opportunities.

MR. QUINN:  That's what I want to be clear about, then.  If there is no FT RAM, you can still do exchanges to create revenue?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We can still use exchanges to create revenues.  It is just a much smaller number.  That is the 9.1.

MR. QUINN:  That's the 9.1.  But if you have additional capacity, which you have continued to contract for for the last number of years - and these index of customers demonstrate the ongoing long-term commitments you've made - if the FT RAM program disappears, you have now the potential for more capacity to do exchanges; is that not correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would argue, as Mr. Quigley argued, that his gas supply plan for the EDA is designed to meet the conditions of the EDA, including the design day.

So I would not agree that we have excess capacity.

MR. QUINN:  I didn't say excess capacity, but I think you would have to agree with me the empirical results from the last few years would demonstrate there is a cheaper way of getting gas to Dawn when you need it, and, therefore, that creates exchange opportunity.  That's accurate, is it not?

MS. CAMERON:  The economics of doing a capacity release and purchasing an exchange from Empress to Dawn was 100 percent dependent on RAM credits.

Without the RAM credits, we would not purchase an exchange from Empress to Dawn to transport our gas supplies.

What we would do is, if there was a party who was interested in gas in the EDA - and more particularly, locations likely to be Iroquois, to export that to the US - we would give them our gas supplies at Iroquois and accept gas from them at Dawn.  That would be an exchange service, and any benefit from that would go to the S&T exchange account.

MR. QUINN:  So if that pipe is not being assigned because the FT RAM program is not there, there would be more opportunity to do those types of base exchanges?

MS. CAMERON:  Those opportunities exist today, and that is -- when you look at that undertaking -- I think it is J.C-4-7-9 -- and there is some amount, I think on attachment 2, that demonstrates what our base exchange revenue is, those are the exchanges or the revenue we can earn without RAM credits.

Those will continue on.  They're all exchange services, and they will continue on without the RAM program.

When we refer to the $9 million that is included in 2013's forecast, that's exactly the type of transaction we are including there.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would just add to that that is the transaction types that we have been doing since the beginning of exchanges, back in the early '90s.  Nothing different.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  We varied from where I was going but I think it was helpful.

I just want to turn back to the index of customer report from TCPL.  And, again, I am not going to take you through the detail at this point, but we talked about the fact there is a monthly update of this report.

Who on your staff would monitor those reports, Mr. Isherwood?  Would that be your manager of upstream regulation?  Or would that be Patti Piett at this time, or in her group?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I guess the question would be:  What exactly are you monitoring it for?  They're actually reporting our activity, so we know what we're doing.

MR. QUINN:  You would also want to know what the market is doing, also, would you not?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It doesn't tell you a whole lot in terms of how much capacity is being assigned away from any of these customers, whether it's Enbridge or GMI or...

MR. QUINN:  If you took one report, year over year, November report one year to November report the next year, and you added up the figures to each of the delivery areas, would you not figure out how much was contracted for last year versus this year?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  And how would that help us?

MR. QUINN:  To know how much capacity has been taken up in the market for, in this case, long-term contracts.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think what our gas supply plan assumes is we need FT firm contracts going to our delivery area, so our primary concern is making sure the contracts that we have underpinning our supply plan are in place.

MR. QUINN:  Then if I could ask you to turn up page 7 of our compendium?

MR. SHORTS:  Mr. Quinn, can I add one more point there?

When you look at these reports, the other thing you can't distinguish would be the utility activity where we had a lot of excess supply and we are actually releasing the pipe for -- and temporarily assigning it to get value for the customers.

So, as you know, we have come out of a very warm winter, so some of this value would have been the pipe that we have temporarily released and received the value from counterparties to mitigate that UDC.

MR. QUINN:  I think we took - you took some undertakings in that, and we will rely on those to see what the actually effects have been, Mr. Shorts.  Thank you.

So turning back to page 7 of 24, this is a representation -- it does quantify, but it is hard to get the precise numbers.  But this depicts how much capacity was eligible for being released, renewed or expiring, and if you read across in the graph, what -- we'll take November 2011 since it is relatively recent.

You can see how much was renewed and how much expired, and then the total eligible, which is a combination of the two.  Is that a correct reading of the graph?

MR. SMITH:  Sorry, just so -- because it is not clear from the graph, can I ask my friend to identify where the graph comes from?

MR. QUINN:  From the same website the index of customers is on.  This is just another summary statement that tries to reflect November 1 of each year.

I thought the panel would be familiar with that, but thank you for clarifying, Mr. Smith.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So this is a TransCanada document?

MR. QUINN:  TransCanada document that is from the website that has the index of customers.  This is the summary form of it.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Can you ask the question again, please?

MR. QUINN:  For any of the respective years, I am just asking your confirmation.  What we're looking at is the amount of capacity that was eligible to be renewed, how much was actually renewed, and how much was allowed to expire; is that accurate?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's accurate.

MR. QUINN:  And so it breaks it down between short-haul and long-haul; correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Eastern short-haul and western short-haul and long-haul are the three categories.

MR. QUINN:  Yes.  So with this type of information that's readily available, you had again expressed the concern about you contract long-term, because it may not be available when you need it if you were to go with short-haul.

Would this type of graph not be information that would be helpful to determine how much may be available, based upon how much was renewed and how much was not renewed in each year?

MR. SHORTS:  Just to clarify, Mr. Quinn, you said that we continue to contract for short-haul firm services.  They might not necessarily be long-term, but I just wanted to make that clear.

You said short-haul, and I just wanted to make clear that we do contract for short-haul firm services, and they may not be long-term when those contracts initially expire.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  I'll make sure I'm precise in my words.  I will be very clear, then.

You continue to contract for long-haul; this shows how much long-haul has been available to be renewed and how much has actually expired.

Would this not give an indication to your staff that, if they wanted to move to shorter-term contracts, that the potential of a longer-term contract would still be available in the next year?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think I'm getting confused by your question, in terms of you're talking about long-haul and long-term and short-haul and short-term.

So we contract our FT services, and FT services has a one-year minimum commitment.  If it requires a bill, then we have to commit to 10 years initially, then eventually gets into a one-year rolling.  The majority of our contracts at this point are one-year rolling, so they're short-term, and we have a mix of long-haul and short-haul.

MR. QUINN:  We asked your panel the other day why you wouldn't move to short-term firm contracts for the winter and release the long-term long-haul contracts.

And the answer, and I am paraphrasing -- Mr. Shorts was on the panel, so if I don't have this right you can correct me -- but basically the answer was:  It may not be available if we want to go with the long-term long-haul.  If your plan changes.

MR. SHORTS:  Correct, Mr. Quinn.  If we went to an ST FT-type of service instead of long-haul -- and we talked about the reasons why we don't think that is the proper way to do that -- you do have the renewal right risk, because there are no automatic renewal rights with the ST FT.

You also have the unknown availability.  I mean, even TransCanada has responded in the -- I believe it was their IR No. 9, that showed that over the winter, January 9 through February 11, there were a number of days where -- in which in the EDA, ST FT was not available.

MR. QUINN:  ST FT was not available?

MR. SHORTS:  Correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, I will have to check the -- do you have a reference for that?

MR. SHORTS:  I do.

MR. QUINN:  To save us time, would you mind undertaking just to give us the reference?  And I'll look that up when I -–

MR. SHORTS:  I believe it is Union-TC -- it was their IR No. 9, I believe.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I will take that, subject to check myself.  And I want to keep moving on, respecting the time.

MR. SHORTS:  The only reference I have is Union-TCPL 9 and if you -- just for your reference, Mr. Quinn, if you look, starting on page 7 of the attachment, and going forth for the few pages, next few pages, it shows where ST FT remaining is actually not available, or at zero.

MR. QUINN:  Oh.  Let's be clear, then.  Thank you for pulling up the reference so we can be clear.

This is ST FT that would have been available for certain days of the winter that was pre-contracted?

MR. SHORTS:  This is their report that says on those days there was no ST FT available.

MR. QUINN:  Right.  Now, TCPL rolls out its available transport, initially annually, secondarily for the entire winter; correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.  Initially in July, typically.

MR. QUINN:  Yes.  And the open season just closed for one-year firm service?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I'm not sure.  Probably.

MR. QUINN:  But after they have got what amount of contracting was taken up at that point, they go to -- the next stage is the entire winter, who would like to contract for the entire winter?

They do not -- I am looking at Mr. Shorts.  Your understanding is they do not allow individual months or individual weeks to be pre-contracted at that point?

MR. SHORTS:  Their first -- they first go yearly, then seasonally, and then they go down to weekly.

MR. QUINN:  Right.  So this shows an evolution of what happened, I believe -- I can't even see.  Is there a date?  December 2008, January.

So this is how it was actually contracted in 2008/2009.  But to be clear, if there was actually daily capacity taken, then they would -- in today's environment, you would be able to get the entire winter before people would have access to daily, weekly or monthly capacity.  Is that not right?

MR. SHORTS:  Again, it depends on year to year.

This is -- again, this is just history.  We wouldn't know what it would look like going forward, given some of the changes in the marketplace.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, for the open seasons that are out now, maybe just to move on, by way of undertaking could you provide what amount of capacity was available to your respective delivery areas for the entire winter for this year?  The open season was just out for TransCanada.  You would have got a copy of it.  Can you just provide that for the record?

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we will do that.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  J7.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. J7.2:  TO PROVIDE THE AMOUNT OF CAPACITY AVAILABLE TO RESPECTIVE DELIVERY AREAS FOR ENTIRE WINTER OF THIS YEAR.

MR. QUINN:  Now, Mr. Isherwood, we talked a lot about the release of the capacity you instruct your counterparty to deliver to a certain area, whether it be Dawn or the EDA, if it is a winter delivery and it was a contract for the EDA.

My question for you is:  Is that counterparty required to undertake a firm service contract to meet their delivery obligations that Union has instructed them to take?

MS. CAMERON:  When we enter into the agreement with the counterparty, it is a firm agreement that we execute between them and I, or between them and Union Gas.

And we request that we will deliver to them each and every day firm at Empress, and they will deliver to us firm each and every day at Dawn, for example, in a summer example.

There are penalties within that contract for non-performance.  As well, we only enter into transactions with creditworthy parties.

MR. QUINN:  So, again, my question is:  Are they required to demonstrate that they have underpinning firm contracts?

MS. CAMERON:  They have demonstrated by executing the contract with us that says they will meet their firm market commitments.

MR. QUINN:  That isn't what I asked.  Do you ask them to demonstrate to you that they have a firm contract that underpins your --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  We do not police how they deliver the gas.  It is up to them to deliver the gas to us as per the contract.

MR. QUINN:  So the answer is you do not require them to demonstrate that they have a firm contract underpinning their obligations to you?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We do not.  We do not think we need to.

MR. QUINN:  You are familiar with the system reliability proceeding that Enbridge had?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  At a high level, yes.

MR. QUINN:  And part of the issue there was their concern about delivery obligations, their franchise not being underpinned by firm service?  Is that your high level understanding?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I believe the Enbridge experience is actually it had some supply failures.

MR. QUINN:  And they were concerned that contracts were not underpinned by firm service?  Is that your high level understanding?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. QUINN:  But Union is not concerned?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We manage the concern through the contract and the penalties and dealing with parties that we're comfortable with, and creditworthy.

MR. QUINN:  But you don't require them to demonstrate to you that they have firm service underpinning their contract?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We don't police how they get there.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.

Yesterday Union provided an update -- actually, technically, it was provided to me by e-mail Tuesday night, and it was the undertaking that we were trying to go through with panel 2 from EB-2012-0087, B7.7, and Union provided an update to that.  Thank you.  Mr. Millar has copies of it there.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  This will be Exhibit K7.1.
EXHIBIT NO. K7.1:  UNDERTAKING B7.7 FROM EB-2012-0087.

MR. MILLAR:  I have copies for the Panel.

MR. QUINN:  Now, clarity was provided yesterday, Ms. Cameron, in terms of how Union contracts versus how the capacity is actually utilized.

And we have the Union panel's description of the change to the note 3, which I think we will rely on that, because I don't think we can read it off the screen.  Thanks, Ryan.

But I am going to just -- I am not going to focus on note 3.  I just want to focus on the bottom line, "TCPL, Union, CDA, Empress to Parkway."  I think that view is fine.  Thank you.

What I would like to ask Union by way of undertaking, there's obviously a considerable amount of transportation exchange revenue that was made on that path.

Similar to the undertaking yesterday, could you provide a breakdown of where the gas was actually delivered by your assignees and how the amount of short-term exchange revenue was generated?

MR. SMITH:  I guess before I give the undertaking, maybe we should just ask if the witnesses know the answer, and then, if they don't, we will give an undertaking.

MS. CAMERON:  Can you provide a little more context for what you mean by how it is generated?

MR. QUINN:  Yesterday you had said that you may have contracts to the EDA and you may instruct the counterparty for an assigned contract to deliver some months at Dawn, some months to the EDA, or sometimes to the NDA or WDA.  You have a contract that goes from TCPL Empress to Parkway, and we are interested in how the exchange revenue is generated and how much exchange revenue may have been generated by assignments that drop gas off at different points along the way throughout the use of that contract.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Would it help to describe the transactions today?

MR. QUINN:  Actually, I would rather, by way of undertaking, see the numbers and understand how it is generated, the difference between FT RAM and assignments.  There may be some components of each, Mr. Isherwood, and I don't believe -- I don't expect you to be prepared to have that information with you today.

MS. CAMERON:  As we discussed a bit today, whether we do it through an exchange or whether we do it through optimization, delivering the gas from this particular contract, diverting the gas from Parkway to some other area, was driven by the RAM program.  So it's all fundamentally due to RAM that we've earned the revenue related to this contract.

I'm not sure I understand the categories by which you are wanting me to define this revenue.

MR. QUINN:  How much of the capacity was assigned, to what area, and what was the resulting generation of revenue that fed into the $11 million surplus?

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we will do that.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  J7.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. J7.3:  WITH REFERENCE TO EXHIBIT k7.1, TO PROVIDE BREAKDOWN OF WHERE GAS WAS ACTUALLY DELIVERED BY ASSIGNEES AND HOW THE AMOUNT OF SHORT-TERM EXCHANGE REVENUE WAS GENERATED.

MR. QUINN:  Now, again, we touched on this -- well, I'm going to shift just to M12 first.

We've talked about the uncertainty of your M12 forecast, Mr. Isherwood.  You talked about risk on your pipeline.  Yesterday, I think you provided some numbers in terms of there has been turnback, but there has also been what has been deemed to be a repurposing of that capacity, turnback of M12 that may have become M12X or an M12 point-to-point service.  Is that a concise summary?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think with the turnback that we've gotten since -- we've had turnback in 2011.  We'll be getting some more this November and some more next November, the three years we know about.

Some of the capacity was resold in 2011, and some of that would have been M12X.

Starting with the capacity we get back in 2013, at this point in time we have no market for it.  So we have been able to repurpose the '11 turnback and the vast majority of the 2012 turnback, but not the 2013.

MR. QUINN:  Well, I understand that Union recently went out with the Parkway extension project, and, you know, the open season offered -- Union Gas is also conducting a concurrent open season on Dawn to Parkway system to provide capacity to the new pipeline.

You would have had opportunity to test the market and test the uptake of that capacity through that open season, would you not?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, we did.

MR. QUINN:  Would you be able to provide a forecast for 2013 that includes November of 2013 for the purposes of updating your M12 forecast.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  So the M12 forecast would not change for 2013.  The open season was for November 1 of 2014 and November 1 of 2015.

MR. QUINN:  So there was not any interest generated for a contract that would start any time in calendar 2013?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.

But we have talked about uncertainty of the TCPL RAM program and that it may - may - stop in -- it may stop in May of 2013.  It may continue on.  It may stop before May 2013.

Any of those are possible, Mr. Isherwood?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Until we hear of the NEB decision, that's correct.

MR. QUINN:  So there is a possibility that TCPL RAM revenue may come in to Union in January of 2013?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's possible.

MR. QUINN:  Would you believe -- given that uncertainty and because it is outside the control of Union -- that it would be appropriate to have a transportation exchange deferral account reinstituted to manage that risk, for both ratepayers and for Union?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  So our base forecast, which was done in November -- sorry, in the spring of 2011, assumed RAM would not continue in 2013.

So our base evidence, our core evidence talks to the fact that our exchange and transportation revenue is expected -- sorry, exchange revenue is expected to be around $9.1 million, with no deferral account around it.

We were asked, Mr. Quinn, the same question you're asking in terms of should there be a deferral account.  And if I could ask you to turn to J.C-4-7-9, there were a few questions here.

One of the questions was what would we expect the FT RAM revenue to be in '13, if it were to continue.

And we provided a number of $11.6 million that was based on 2011 volume, 2011 activity, if you wish.

We also offered, at the top of page 3 of 3, two different options for the Board to consider.  The second one was really to keep the current forecast of $9.1 million for exchanges and build that into rates, as per our proposal.

And option number two, which is the simpler of the two, is basically just saying:  And have a deferral account in case RAM does continue on.

I would add to this answer that it would be Union's position that, in order to provide incentive, as we've had in the past before incentive regulation and before RAM, to have the deferral account have a revenue sharing of 75-25, which was historically the number we have had there.

And that would provide us incentive to continue to do the good work we're doing in FT RAM, and provide the ratepayer that benefit through that deferral account.

Option number one gets a bit more complicated, but perhaps has different benefits.  It is suggesting that you could build in a forecast of the FT RAM, and the number provided here was, again, based on the 2011 activity level of $11.6 million.

And in this case, it's very key that we would have a deferral account for 100 percent protection on the downside, because of the risk that FT RAM would not continue.

But again, we would propose that, on the upside, to provide the proper signals to the utility, we would have sharing on the upside of 75-25.

Just if I could say one more thing, Mr. Quinn, there was another interrogatory that kind of touched on it, as well, just to give a complete record.  And it's J.H-1-1-2.

And this provided a slightly different option for the Board to consider, as well.  And this interrogatory to Board Staff is really trying to deal with how do we help deal with the impact of the rate increases in the north; the north do have higher rate increases than the south.

One of the suggestions in this IR is you could build the FT RAM benefit into the northern rates to help mitigate some of the impacts there.  But once again we would ask for the downside protection at 100 percent, and earnings sharing -- or sharing on the upside, sorry, of the deferral account at 75-25.

MR. QUINN:  I guess that was more fulsome answer than I had anticipated.  So I want to get back to where I was going with this.

You have demonstrated to us and you say your forecast hasn't changed, that there is some risk on M12 for 2013; is that accurate?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  If that M12 capacity is available, will it sit idle, or will Union tend to find opportunity or look to find opportunity to sell C1 short-term exchanges?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We have -- we were given notice for the 2013 turnback.  We always get two years' advance notice.  We would have known about that November 1 of last year, or sometime late October last year.

And we have been trying to sell it since then and we will continue to try to sell it.

If it is not sold by, say, November 1 of '13, then we would try to sell it during the day on the day, over the winter.

MR. QUINN:  But for the 2013 year, you have 2012 empty capacity?  From November 2012 into 2013, you have empty capacity?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Very little.  I think there are twenty or 30,000 gJs.  The big, the big unsold capacity is starting November 1 of '13.

MR. QUINN:  So your March update of your evidence would include all -- that you only have twenty to 30,000 gJs of unsold capacity?

You are demonstrating a shortfall relative to 2012 revenues of about $5 million.  Would those numbers make sense to you, Mr. Isherwood?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We're just pulling up some of the evidence.

MR. QUINN:  I am very conscious of time, and you had provided some of your views on the deferral accounts.  Is it possible you could just take an undertaking to check the level of capacity that is not subscribed for M12 for 2013?  And is your forecast still accurate, or what would the updated forecast for revenues for M12 for --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  For '13 or for '12?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  For 2013, the test year.

MR. SMITH:  We will do that.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  J7.3 -- I'm sorry, J7.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. J7.4:  TO CONFIRM LEVEL OF CAPACITY NOT SUBSCRIBED FOR M12 FOR 2013, AND WHETHER FORECAST IS STILL ACCURATE.

MR. QUINN:  I want to touch on storage issues.  I've got two more areas.  Then hopefully I will be done before the break.

I have in my compendium - and I want to be specific - starting at page 8 through the next several pages, up to 15, this is actually a transcript from 2011-0038.  And I should have added a reference to the top of that to make sure people had the proper context.

But again in terms of time, Mr. Isherwood, as opposed to leading you through, last year we had some discussions about encroachment of non-utility space into utility space.

And in that discussion you and I had, we were seeking reassurance that the non-utility space did not encroach upon utility space.  Union took an undertaking -- first off, do you recall that conversation?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I do.

MR. QUINN:  Is that a concise summary of what we were talking about?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  And at the time, and to be fair, you anticipated that it had not happened?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, that's true.

MR. QUINN:  And subsequently, we asked you to take an undertaking to find out that, in fact, in one of the three previous years -- which is reflected on page 16 and 17.  This was the resulting undertaking from that proceeding, that demonstrated that in 2009 for the period of, well, two months, the non-utility space had exceeded its maximum capacity and therefore it encroached on the utility space?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And I don't think you need to turn it up, but your evidence from this year also described an 11-day overage for the non-utility in October of 2011?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.  So from the hearing EB-2011-0038, which was last year's proceeding, the Board had asked that we report on any overages in the future.

So we did file a section of evidence in this proceeding to deal with that.

MR. QUINN:  So what we have is now in the record for two out of the last four years or half of the time, in the fall, the non-utility space has encroached on utility space; would you agree with that?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Now, I guess what I'm trying to understand is, you know, Union has come forth with some proposals to sell non-utility space, short-term.

And I think it would be helpful if we turn up Board Staff IR J.DV-1-1-1.

There is a fairly -- sorry, do you have it, panel?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  There's a fairly long preamble, but what I want to focus on is Union's ability to tie transactions to assets.

So if you would flip over the page, Ryan, please?  Okay.  In answer to question (b) -- I will read it for the record:

"Union is able to trace the individual short-term peak storage transactions and could assign the individual storage transactions as utility transactions or non-utility transactions."

Stopping there, Mr. Isherwood, is that system -- is that ability currently in place?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, it is.

MR. QUINN: Given that capability, how is it that we have had, two out of the four years, significant encroachments on the utility space?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  If I could just maybe explain what happened last year, that's the most current event.

MR. QUINN:  Mr. Isherwood, is that what is in your evidence?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I think I want to be fair about this.  It is in your evidence, and you have come forward with an explanation.

At the same time, if you have the ability to tie transactions specifically down to the respective assets, I'm concerned, if we were to move into a world where Union was selling non-utility space in the short-term market, how would we get comfort that utility and non-utility space being commingled in transactions would actually be able to be, demonstrably to this Board, separating?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think if I explain first what happened in October of last year, then we can deal with the proposal here.

But last year the overage actually happened during Thanksgiving weekend.  So if we look at how much gas we're injecting prior to Thanksgiving weekend, it was approximately 0.1 of a pJ, or 100,000 gJs a day, a little more than that each day, for sort of the three or four days before.

We looked at the forecast over the weekend and we expected the same type of number, maybe slightly larger, to be injected.  The actual injections on the weekend, instead of being 100,000 or 150,000 gJs, went over 800,000 gJs a day for three days.  And it was that unusual circumstance, driven by Thanksgiving, weather, that took us over.

So when the team came back to work on the Tuesday and saw that we were over, we immediately took action and started to take gas off our system to bring that balance back in line on the -- starting on the Wednesday, and, in total, spent a little over a million dollars in transaction fees to get the balance back in line.

So it was definitely an unexpected event.  It was unusual circumstances, and we reacted as quickly as we could when we got back into the office.

In terms of the proposal here, we have a very discrete amount of storage to sell, both utility space that we sell on a short-term basis if it is deemed to be excess, and we have a very discrete amount of non-utility space to sell, as well.

And today we sell all of the utility space on a short-term basis, being less than two years, and for the -- sorry, for the non-utility space --- let me start again.

For the utility space, we sell on a short-term basis, which is deemed to be less than two years, and it is typically always one year.  And for the non-utility space, we sell that long-term, which is deemed two years and longer.

What we're asking for the Board's consideration on is to be able to sell non-utility space on the short-term basis, which would be typically a one-year basis.

But as I mentioned earlier, we have very discrete amounts of both to sell, so what we're asking for is:  Can we sell some of our non-utility space that would otherwise be sold long term; can we sell that on a short-term basis?

So both numbers are very discrete.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I am going to parse that out just a bit.  You came back over the weekend, you said, and recognized that you were over and reacted immediately.

Would you take it, subject to check, that took about a week to get your balance back to 100 percent?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The overage was I believe 1.6 pJs, which was a big number.  It ran up very quickly over the weekend.  So it would take, I'm going to say, days, maybe a week, to have that actually happen.

The important thing is the first transaction happened the very next day, and we worked during that week to get more gas off as the week went on.

MR. QUINN:  And the utility did not charge the non-utility any penalty for that overage?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. QUINN:  And you have taken it by -- there was an undertaking from the technical conference that said the 1.6 pJs multiplied by the penalty would be a penalty of $96 million?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That $96 million comes out of our rate schedule, our tariff.  Actually, it is on our market price storage service tariff, which is the unregulated business.

And I would say this, though, Mr. Quinn, that that's the number that is on the tariff, and for another LDC or an ex-franchise customer we would normally work with the customer, and, to my knowledge, have not charged that to, again, a non-utility ex-franchise type customer.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Certainly not since the NGEIR decision.

MR. QUINN:  We have had a rather long conversation here, Mr. Isherwood.  I am conscious of the clock, so my next question is on system integrity space.

You know that we had a discussion in the technical conference about the ability to fill the fall system integrity space in December and allow it to become part of your winter contingency space.  Do you recall that conversation?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  If you check the transcript, which I am not going to go through, I had asked that you look at the possibility of filling that space in December.  Unfortunately, through maybe lack of clarity in the undertaking, you did a response that was based on January.

Could I get you to actually complete the undertaking for a comparison of December as opposed to January?

MS. CAMERON:  I think, Mr. Quinn, when we look at what you're asking -- so it's the -- there's no assurance that we would have capability or space in our inventory to buy the gas back in December.

The storage facility is likely still full, and we would not have capability to inject that gas.

MR. QUINN:  Would that mean that your contingency space is already full, then?

MS. CAMERON:  We don't use contingency space for that purpose.

MR. QUINN:  Well, what I am asking, in your scenario you have created, is the contingency space full?

MS. CAMERON:  Well, in the scenario we talked about - and perhaps we can walk through it to make sure we understand - we've taken 3-1/2 pJs and sold that off as storage.

You were looking to optimize the storage space, the contingency space; correct?

MR. QUINN:  No.  Mr. Isherwood, do you recall our conversation?  I can go through in more detail if you'd like.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I wouldn't recall it exactly word for word.

MR. QUINN:  So our proposition to you was that you keep 3-1/2 pJs of contingency space empty in the fall to have that flexibility, if it is a warmer than normal fall.

Then, on top of that, you have 6 pJs that you want to have full in the winter, and you keep that as separate space so that there is a total of 9-1/2 pJs of contingency space.

Our proposition to you was keep that fall contingency space available for a cold fall, but once the weather has turned and you start doing withdrawals, you could then fill in December that 3-1/2 pJs that had been set aside, and fill it with gas and have it part of the 6 pJs, so you don't have to double count your system contingency space.

So I would ask if you would take an undertaking to compare -- you gave the July price and the January price.  We had asked about December and July.

So to complete the record, would you be able to take that undertaking?

MR. SMITH:  I guess we could do that.  Yes, we will do that.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  J7.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. J7.5:  TO PROVIDE CONTINGENCY SPACE NUMBERS FOR DECEMBER.

MR. QUINN:  The last area I want to talk about is the deferral account proposition we touched on before.

I was rereading the transcript yesterday, Ms. Elliott, and you were answering Mr. Aiken's question, so it may be in a different context, but you had touched on the deferral account and the phrase you used was:
"There is no differentiation between utility assets and non-utility assets."


I guess my direct question to you would be:  Based upon what Mr. Isherwood has said, being able to tie specific transactions, would you be able to demonstrate, in some way, to the satisfaction of this Board, that if Union were entering into non-utility short-term transactions, that there was a clear separation of the assets to the respective accounts?

MS. ELLIOTT:  With respect to short-term storage space, there is a predetermined amount of excess non-utility space.

So selling that space and the revenues generated by the sales of that space are in the forecast, and to the extent that the actual revenues vary from the forecast, they would be subject to deferral.

So the variance on that volume of space is what's subject to deferral.  To the extent that we sell more space short term, we're selling non-utility space that's not subject to deferral.

So we would, in the deferral account, be able to demonstrate revenues for the volume of excess utility space.

MR. QUINN:  Again -- and I may turn this back to Mr. Isherwood, and then back to you, Ms. Elliott.  At the start of the year when the gas supply plan is released in the spring, you have a release of assets.  This is how much space we're going to need for this winter, therefore -- and we'll just use a round number.  Ninety pJs is what you need for in-franchise.  Just say that was the case.

There are 100 pJs of space set aside for the utility, so the excess would be 10 pJs at that point.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Right.

MR. QUINN:  Through the course of the year, weather changes, things happen.  You end up with some difference, and so at some point during that year in this scenario, you have now have recognized you have an additional two pJs of space, of utility space, that would not be needed for this winter.

That additional two pJs of utility space is now available to be marketed and used in some fashion.

That clarification -- with that clarification, you now have what would be not 10, but 12 pJs of utility space.

Currently, can you track the fact that you have transactions that tie to the 12 pJs of utility space?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  In the example you gave, Mr. Quinn, we would only sell 10 pJs of the utility space, because to get to the extra two, you have changing weather conditions in the winter and you wouldn't be selling one-year contracts midway through the year.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Then would you use that two pJs, potentially, to do a park service?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We will sell -- short-term storage being less than a year -- more balancing-type services.

And those dollars do flow through the utility account.

MR. QUINN:  They flow through the utility account.  So you have the excess 10 pJs that you have at the outset.  You have two more incremental pJs of utility space.

All of that goes through the utility account?

MS. ELLIOTT:  All of that goes through the deferral account.  If it is used for all of the balancing services, all off-peak storage, all go through the deferral account.

MR. QUINN:  Which deferral account?

MS. ELLIOTT:  The short-term storage and balancing deferral account, 179-70.

MR. QUINN:  So that's what happens today.

Now, to the extent that you want to sell non-utility space, and let's say you have five pJs of non-utility space, you have the potential now of 17 pJs of space that could be sold for short-term space.  It could be used for park and loan services, and all of the categories that go into that deferral account.

How would you propose you satisfy the Board and ultimately ratepayers that the utility space is being separated and that we are getting value back for our utility space?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Again, the two pJs that your example presents would only be sold as off-peak storage.  It wouldn't be sold as peak storage.

So when we sell utility and non-utility space, both for the short-term being one year, that's two very discrete amounts, the 10 pJs you mentioned and the five pJs of non-utility.  Very easy to track those two elements.

The other services we sell, which are off-peak for a week, for a month, for a couple of months, would still flow through the utility account.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Maybe to cut to the chase on this, I am asking how you would demonstrate this capability.

We now have the potential intermingling -- I say potential intermingling of non-utility and utility space, not unlike we have had some issues in the last couple of years.

If Union were desiring to go forward, as they have proposed, to sell non-utility space in the short-term market, would Union be willing to accept an audit by a Board-appointed and Union-paid for auditor that would come in on an annual basis and review to ensure that the transactions were affected in a way consistent with the deferral account?

MR. SMITH:  The answer to that question is no.

But there is a deferral account proceeding.  And to the extent -- every year.  And to the extent that my friends have questions about the amounts that are in the deferral accounts, they're entitled to ask interrogatories in those proceedings, and to -- if they're not satisfied with the answers, to make whatever arguments in those proceedings that they want to make.

MR. QUINN:  I think the concern that we're expressing, Mr. Smith, is that when we ask those questions in the deferral account proceedings, we hear the non-utility transactions are not a matter of public record.  They're a separate business and we have no right to ask questions.

So I am trying to find an interim approach that would potentially allow Union to go forward with it, which it respectfully has asked for, and that's the ability to sell this non-utility space short-term.

MR. SMITH:  Sorry --


MS. HARE:  I think your question, Mr. Quinn, was would they be willing to accept an audit and the answer was no.

So that leaves it up to you to argue for such an audit.

MR. SMITH:  Just so it is perfectly clear, Union has the ability under NGEIR to sell non-utility storage any length of time, short-term or long-term.  It is not -- Union doesn't require approval at this stage to do that.

MS. HARE:  Right.

MR. QUINN:  Then I guess I will turn, lastly, to the exhibit that I presented --


MS. HARE:  Mr. Quinn, will you be done in a few minutes?

MR. QUINN:  This is the last question, actually.  Thank you, and I appreciate your concern.

Mr. Millar has an exhibit that was actually from the 2011-0038 proceeding, and it is a reply submission by Union Gas, if you are accepting of that as an exhibit, Mr. Smith.

MR. SMITH:  You are proposing to mark that?  Yes, that's fine.

MR. MILLAR:  It's K7.2.  It's the reply submission of Union Gas from EB-2011-0038.
EXHIBIT NO. K7.2:  REPLY SUBMISSION OF UNION GAS FROM EB-2011-0038.



[Mr. Millar passes the exhibit to Board Panel]


MR. QUINN:  And if I could draw your attention to page 4 of that document, paragraph 12, it says:

"Finally, if the Board accepts the argument advanced by CME and others and concludes that Union's ability to track its non-utility storage position is a reason to depart from the NGEIR Decision in relation to the sharing of margin on short-term transactions, then there is no need to distinguish between short-term and long-term storage at all.  The logical consequence is that the categories of short-term and long-term should be abolished."

I guess my question at this point is:  Is that Union's position at this time, that we are in a position to abolish the short-term and long-term categorizations of storage?

MR. SMITH:  Well, if this is a factual question or Union's position, Union's position is as articulated in its evidence.

It would be perfectly defensible under NGEIR to take the position –- because this has already been granted -- that the short-term and long-term distinction should be abolished, but Union hasn't proposed that in this proceeding, and the outcome is better for ratepayers from a dollars perspective than strict application of NGEIR.

And that's what is laid out in the prefiled evidence.

MR. QUINN:  I know that is what is in the prefiled evidence, Mr. Smith, but I think you missed the corollary of that, in that if -- not necessarily now, but if in the future it is better to sell the utility space, a portion of the utility space long-term, two or three years if you've got a five-year gas supply plan that says you are not going to use these 10 pJs, you could sell five of them for two or three years in the long-term market if there is a better margin.

Is it Union's position that that ought not occur?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The market research that we have done, Mr. Quinn, is highest value for storage is generally short-term, being one-year, and that is exactly the reason why we're asking to be able to change our deferral account to reflect the ability for us to sell our non-utility balances one-year.

So I don't see the day where it would be preferential to sell utility space long-term; the better value is selling it short-term.

MR. QUINN:  Why do you sell non-utility space long-term, then?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Because the current accounting order accounts for two years and longer.

MR. QUINN:  So before NGEIR you sold space long-term.  Why did you sell space long-term?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I'm not -- sorry, I'm not that familiar with the deferral accounts treatment prior to NGEIR.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Would you agree with me that selling excess space longer-term is -- there is a way of managing your risk on the values of storage going up and down over time?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  There would be some value to that.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So in this last year, you have experienced and your evidence states that you have experienced some slim margins on storage transactions, slimmer margins?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think 2012 is a little bit better than 2011.  I think it has actually gotten a little bit better.

MR. QUINN:  So in 2011, you had slim margins on storage transactions?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We definitely went through a bit of a trough on storage.

MR. QUINN:  Right.  So if we were to suggest that, if somebody were taking care of just the utility storage, both the -- that applied to serve the customers and the excess space, and that person chose that it would be in their best interests to sell some of that space long-term to manage the risks up and down, would Union be willing to consider that as -- the opportunity, since you have the capability now to track transactions right down to the utility and non-utility assets?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think we need to consider that at the time, Mr. Quinn.  We do have the ability to track it, for sure, but our position in this case is that we would -- we're asking to be able to sell non-utility space on the short-term basis, one year.


MR. QUINN:  That is what you're asking for?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.


MR. QUINN:  I guess we're asking you, then, can you sell utility space long term, and your answer is you are going to consider that, but in your professional experience --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It's not our position in this case.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It's not your position; okay.  Thank you very much.  Those are our questions.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.  We will take our morning break now to 11:15.


And I would like to remind parties to try to stick to their time estimates that have been provided to us.  Thank you.  So 11:15.


--- Recess taken at 10:56 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:23 a.m.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.

Mr. Brett, I think you are next for cross-examining, and I think your time estimate is 45 minutes?

MR. BRETT:  Yes.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Brett:

MR. BRETT:  I would like to start -- good morning, panel.  I would like to start with this handout that came out this morning.  I think as it in response to some -- a request by Mr. Thompson.  Is this in the...

Oh, I see.  Okay.  Well, I guess we -- I would like to see if we can get this into the record here so I can use it for cross-examination.  I'm going to use it just briefly, but I want to use it as sort of a jumping-off spot.

MR. MILLAR:  What document is this, Mr. Brett?

MR. BRETT:  It's called "Portion of FT RAM demand charge mitigation amounts not credited to ratepayers - 2007 to 2012."  It is just a handy summary, I think, of numbers that have already been agreed, but...

MS. HARE:  This is a document from another proceeding; is that correct?

MR. BRETT:  No, this is a document Union Gas put together.

MR. SMITH:  Well, it is sort of yes, sort of no.

Mr. Thompson asked us to put some numbers together.  We have put the numbers together in a way that we think is comprehensive and reflects the record.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  We will attach an exhibit number to that.  K7.3.

EXHIBIT NO. K7.3:  UNION GAS DOCUMENT ENTITLED "PORTION OF FT RAM DEMAND CHARGE MITIGATION AMOUNTS NOT CREDITED TO RATEPAYERS - 2007 TO 2012."

MR. BRETT:  My questions on this are largely of an informational nature, panel, but I want to just make sure I can reconcile a couple of these numbers with numbers in other interrogatory responses.

So when you are looking at this, to start, you might turn up J4.1, which was an undertaking given earlier from Ms. Evers to Mr. Thompson.  That is in the gas supply cross-examination.  So that is, again, Exhibit J4.1.  So you have the two things in front of you.

Do you have it?

MS. CAMERON:  We have it.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  As I say, I'm not going to dwell on this, but as you can see, you had a look at, I guess Mr. Thompson's numbers, and did as Mr. Smith said.

So I want you to go down to -- see the top line is the net RAM revenue or RAM-enabled revenue.

The second line is the portion that goes to -- or the second and third lines are the portion that goes to shareholders.

And then the fourth and fifth lines are lines that show specific -- how those credits were used to effect the specific objectives that benefited ratepayers, which were discussed -- for the most part discussed with the gas supply panel last week.

I want to just look at line 5, which is entitled "Released value of pipe to offset UDC."

You see I am going to look -- as an example, I will look at 2010.  You see the number 6.2 there for 2010.

I want to just draw your attention to the footnotes there.  And the three footnotes, 1, 2 and 3, that are set out below all pertain to this line 5.  So let me just address that.

The first footnote says:
"This is the total released value obtained for pipe releases as shown in J4.1, adjusted to reflect only TCPL releases as those values were impacted by RAM credits."

Now, if I look at J4.1 and I look at 2010, you show a released value there of 7 million 257, as against 6.2 million in this -- in K7.3.

My question is:  Could you just explain the difference between the -- what you mean -- what you mean by the footnote?  What's the difference between the 7,257 and the 6.2?

MR. SHORTS:  Mr. Brett, the 7,257 represents the total value from all pipes we released, not just TransCanada.  So that would include all pipes.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.

MR. SHORTS:  What we did was strip out the non-TCPL pipe release values.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  That's what I thought, but that is helpful.  Thank you.

And then your footnotes 2 and 3 on the same -- for the same line, while the value directly attributable to FT RAM program cannot be separated from the total value -- and I think we discussed that last week:

"This has been included to recognize that the FT RAM program has increased the value of assignments of TCPL firm transport".

So what you are saying there is the 6.2 is really the -- is the total amount of compensation that you got for the pipe, and it includes -- for want of a better word -- a conventional portion and a RAM-enabled portion; is that fair?

MR. SHORTS:  It includes added intrinsic value that the RAM credits would have -- we would have received it because of the RAM credit feature.

MR. BRETT:  Correct.  And then the third footnote is, I think reflects something that Mr. Isherwood said yesterday, that it -- it says, "Set to zero", and this is in reference, now, to the 2007 column, line 5, 2007, you see the little footnote 3 there.  It says:

"Set to zero to recognize limited use of RAM credits prior to 2008."

And I think that is just saying that, as you put it yesterday, I believe, Mr. Isherwood, the activity didn't really get cranked up until 2008; is that...

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's fair.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  With respect -- the only other question that I have on the detailed numbers has to do with -- if you would turn up J3.3, which was an undertaking of Ms. Evers to Mr. Quinn, again, from the -- yes, that's it.

Then there is an attachment to that, that response.  And my question -- I don't know that I need to correlate this with the K7.3, but I just want to understand the table.  The attachment there shows -- first in the left-hand column shows the level of the TCPL demand charge for that month; right?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We're not seeing an attachment for that undertaking, Mr. Brett.

MR. BRETT:  Oh, I see.  It is a table.  It's a table.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. BRETT:  Sorry about that.  Okay.  Do you have that table in front of you?

MS. CAMERON:  I do.

MR. BRETT:  It has three columns.  The one on the left is the demand charge for TCPL by month?

MS. CAMERON:  From Empress to the eastern zone, yes.

MR. BRETT:  Thank you.  The middle one is the total demand charges.  Now, could you explain, I guess, the -- just explain the middle one to me.

MS. CAMERON:  That is -- the demand charge from column A multiplied the capacity that Union held from Empress to the eastern zone.

MR. BRETT:  And it was released?  Is that the idea?

MS. CAMERON:  No.  That is just what we hold.

MR. BRETT:  All right.  That's what you held.

And then the net proceeds, what does that signify?  That is the third column.

MS. CAMERON:  That was the revenue that we earned from capacity releases.  So to the extent that S&T had an opportunity and was approached by a party for us to release our Empress-to-EDA capacity, so that they could get some benefit from the RAM credits, this is the net proceeds of what we earn from that capacity release, less the costs that we incurred to get the gas supply from Empress to wherever it needed to go.

MR. BRETT:  I understand.  So that would have had the effect, then, of reducing the -- reducing the amounts of the demand charge, effectively; right?

Offset those demand charge amounts in column 2; is that right?

MS. CAMERON:  They did not impact the demand charge.  The demand charge that was paid by the ratepayers was the same, because they still got the gas, the contracted receipt point, and it was delivered where they needed it.

MR. BRETT:  Right.  But in terms of what the company as a whole received, the 749 effectively could be -- could be viewed as a revenue offset to the demand charges?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  No.  Those would be treated as regulated revenues.

MR. BRETT:  The net proceeds?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  All right.

MS. TAYLOR:  I'm sorry, I'm confused.

MR. BRETT:  I think that's -- well, do you wish to --


MS. TAYLOR:  I just need to understand.  So you have a contract November 2009, the first line of this.  You've got a contract with a demand charge of $33 per gJ a month for a total of 2.67 million demand charge for that quantity?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, that's correct.

MS. TAYLOR:  Explain to me what the net proceeds are, again, slowly and whether -- and who is paying for what and where the cost of the demand charge is.

So this net number, there is a lot of things going on in it.  You said that the ratepayer is held harmless, and I am having trouble with that.

So is there anything on the record where I would understand each of the cash flows that you have that end up in the net?

MS. CAMERON:  We have not provided, to this date, the details of how that value was calculated.

How the transaction is entered into is -- because of the RAM credits, a customer will approach us and ask --


MS. TAYLOR:  I understand that.  But you keep saying that the ratepayer is held harmless because the gas that they need is delivered at the point that they actually need it.

But I'm having trouble reconciling that with the numbers that we're seeing with the sharing and the quantum of the opportunity.

So can I get you to break out the flows that would have -- just for November of 2009, or pick whatever month you would like, just so that I understand how this transaction results, top line, offsets all of the costs such that you get a net proceed of 749,000?  Could you do that?

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we will do that.

MS. TAYLOR:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  J7.6.
UNDERTAKING NO. J7.6:  TO PROVIDE DERIVATION OF NET PROCEEDS, HOW THEY ARE GENERATED AND REPORTED.

MR. BRETT:  Thank you.  I would like you -- thank you, Ms. Chairman.

MS. TAYLOR:  I apologize.

MR. BRETT:  Not at all.  I was going to try to do it myself, but I wouldn't have done it, as well.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Sorry, Mr. Brett.  Could we just understand the undertaking clearly?

I think what my colleague is looking for is, given the demand charge -- the demand charges, and then the net proceeds, it's the derivation of the net proceeds that is what we're interested in, precisely how those net proceeds are generated and how they are reported.

MS. CAMERON:  Certainly.

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we will do that.

MR. BRETT:  Thank you.  If I could ask you now to turn up an IR, shift gears a wee bit here, to J.D-1-16-2.  That is an interrogatory, J.D, as in dairy, 1-16-2, and that is an interrogatory asked by me on behalf of my client, the Building Owners and Managers Association.

We touched on this briefly with the gas supply panel, but I would like to explore a little different aspect of it with you, and just give me a moment here, please.  Okay.  Sorry, about that.

What this IR response -- the IR asked about -- essentially about how the FT RAM gets started.  Do we have it up here?  Yes.  No, we don't.  What I am looking for is J.D-1-16-2.  I have something else on this screen here.

Thank you.  This has really to do with how did the FT RAM get started and a little bit of the substance of it, and it really consists of the -- the answer consists of two pieces of paper, two attachments.  The first is a letter from TransCanada on behalf of the TransCanada task force, in effect, I think, to the NEB, under which it filed an application dated January the 16th, 2009 to make the -- to amend TransCanada's interruptible transportation toll schedule to incorporate -- well, to amend their interruptible transportation toll schedule to effectively incorporate the FT RAM credits.

Do you see that letter?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, we do.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And what they're doing at this stage -- would you agree, Mr. Isherwood, what they're doing at this stage is putting the IT RAM -- sorry, putting the FT RAM program effectively formally into the TransCanada tariff?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. BRETT:  And prior to that time, the FT RAM, as you pointed out a couple of days ago, started much earlier, actually, back in November 2004; correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The very first pilot for FT RAM began November 1st of 2004.

MR. BRETT:  Right.  Are you the member, by the way, are you -- Mr. Isherwood, are you now and were you over this relevant period the Union Gas rep at the Tolls Task Force?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  No, I'm not.  People in my group are, but I am not.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Who is, by the way?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Patricia Planting is, currently has that role.

MR. BRETT:  All right.  Thanks.

Now, this -- so just to summarize again, it started in 2004.  It was modified, it looks in this letter, 2006 and again in 2007 for a two-year period; is that fair?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Actually, the history I would like to describe, because I think the history here is important.  It was a pilot in November 1, 2004 for a one-year period.  It took us to November 1, 2005, extended another year to November 1, 2006.  In 2006, they did amend it and added short-term -- sorry, short-haul transportation that is linked to long haul.  They added that feature to expand the benefits of FT RAM a little bit.

MR. BRETT:  Can I ask you to just pause there?  Because I had a question.  Could you give us an example of what that amendment did?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, certainly.  People think of long haul as typically going from Empress to Dawn or Empress to Toronto as a good example of long haul.

People have been known to go from Empress to Dawn with one contract, and long-haul contract, and then having a second contract going from Dawn to maybe an export point of Niagara Falls or Chippewa.

That would be a short-haul contract that the customer has that is linked really to a long-haul contract.  They typically will stop in Dawn maybe for storage services or some other reason, but it is two contracts, independent contracts, that have a linkage.

MR. BRETT:  So as long as they had a receipt, a common point, that kind of contractual arrangement was made eligible for FT RAM at that point?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Right.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Sorry, carry on.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That was still a one-year extension.  And in 2007, another enhancement was made where STS contracts were included for RAM, as well.  So to the extent it wasn't being used, it creates RAM credits.

It was in 2007 really where it became a two-year extension.  So it went from a series of one-year extensions now in 2007 to a two-year extension.

MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Takes us to 2009, and 2009 is really the context of this letter, asking for it to become a permanent feature.

MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  So I think the history here is important, because you can see it has never really been an established service.  It's been pilot for a number of years.  It is a two-year term.  Then it wasn't really until 2009 where it became permanent, and then by September of 2011 it was being filed by TransCanada to terminate the service.

So it was because of that it is a very temporary -- in our view, a very temporary service.  It has lots of evolution to it over its history.

MR. BRETT:  Fine.  As I understand it, then, the second piece of paper is the -- is really the resolution from the TransCanada Tolls Task Force that underpins that letter.  In other words, would you agree with me that the way this works is -- it worked in this case is that this matter or proposal was put before the task force, the TransCanada Tolls Task Force, in September of 2008.  I am looking at the little block at the top of the Tolls Task Force letter.

It was originated by Shell Energy North America; correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. BRETT:  And then it was negotiated in the task force and it was -- finally, it resulted in what is called an unopposed resolution at the January 7th, 2009 task force meeting in Calgary.

And is that part of the sort of -- is that the procedure that -- based on that unopposed to resolution, then TransCanada was free to make a recommendation to the Energy Board; is that right?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  TransCanada can make a recommendation if it had opposed opposition, as well, but the fact it is unopposed normally is a good signal to the NEB that the market participants are in agreement.


MR. BRETT:  Right.  Okay.  A couple of features of this proposal -- of the tolls task force proposal.


I would like you to look over at page 2 of 3 and the last paragraph there, and this is -- I want to read briefly, read out a bit of this, which gives you the sense of what the tolls task force, at least, considered the purpose of FT RAM to be:

"RAM is a tool to mitigate unabsorbed demand charges and provides greater flexibility in order to give shippers increased confidence in contracting for long-haul FT service on the TransCanada main line.  The motivation behind RAM is to promote the renewal of and incremental contracting for long-haul FT service."

Do you agree with that?  That was the rationale for the original pilot, and also for this recommendation to the NEB?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think what TCPL was concerned about was de-contracting their system, and they brought forward - or actually Shell and predecessors to Shell brought forward the FT RAM idea or concept to add to the FT service, really to try and encourage people to find enough value to maintain FT long-haul service.  It was really trying to maintain their -- retain their contracts, consistent with that.


MR. BRETT:  You mentioned Shell and its predecessor, because Coral Energy, a predecessor to Shell, was also the entity that brought forward the application to extend the FT RAM credit in February of 2006; right?  Coral and Shell are the same company?


If I am looking at the bottom of page 1 there, of the tolls task force resolution?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Now, I would like you to take, if you would, and look up -- take K3.3.  That's the compendium that Mr. Thompson had put together some time ago for the gas supply witness panel.


In there, I would like you to look at -- if I may, if you would turn up number 9, which is -- number 9, which is an excerpt of a transcript from the NEB proceeding, the current NEB proceeding, June 26th, 2012.


Do you want to turn that up?  And I will direct you to just a couple of pages of that.


I should perhaps just ask you to confirm -- I will come back to this a bit later, but I would ask you to confirm that Union is part of a consortium of what is call the Eastern Shippers Group, involving Gaz Mét and Enbridge.


And they intervened at the OEB on this tolls case; correct?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  The name of the group is the Market Area Shippers, or MAS, M-A-S, and we did intervene at the National Energy Board on this issue.


MR. BRETT:  Right.  And that -- and that shippers group has taken the position -- I think this was confirmed, this was stated by the gas supply panel last week, I believe, but I would ask you:  The group has taken a position that the FT RAM should be continued; correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. BRETT:  And what this excerpt is, this is an excerpt that Mr. Thompson took from the proceedings.  There were a number of cross-examinations there.


This particular excerpt is a cross-examination -- I would ask you to confirm this -- by Mr. Smith, Mr. Laurie Smith, who is the group's lawyer, of a senior TransCanada panel; correct?


If you look at --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Page 66, 67 and 68?

MR. BRETT:  Yes.  It starts back in page -- it starts back on page 39, and you will see there that -- and it runs actually for about 30 pages.  I am only going to refer to one or two pages.


But my point being here I just wanted you to confirm that what this amounts to is Mr. Smith's cross-examination of the TransCanada toll --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. BRETT:  It is on a variety of matters, but one of them is FT RAM; correct?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Correct.


MR. BRETT:  What I want you to refer to is two exchanges, two particular exchanges.


The first of these is at -- the way they do it, they number the paragraphs.  So if you look at paragraph 17833, and that will be -- I can probably help you with the page of that.  That is page 50, page 50 of the transcript.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, I have it.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And you will see that that Mr. Pohlod says as follows -- it is an exchange, a discussion about FT RAM, and Mr. Pohlod says:

 "The reason we, as TransCanada, are proposing the elimination of RAM is not related to whether shippers are opposing it or supporting it, it is related to the fact that it is not achieving its objective of encouraging FT contracting, and it is having a significant impact on main line tolls as a result of its impact on the main line's ability to generate revenue from the sale of interruptible transportation."


And then you see Mr. Smith says, your counsel says, in 17834:

"But from the perspective of a shipper, it is succeeding in allowing long-haul shippers to alleviate the risk of unabsorbed demand charges.  Isn't that true?"


And the answer Mr. Pohlod gives is rather nuanced, I suppose.  He says:

"It is clearly providing value in different ways."


Do you think -- does that exchange encapsulate, to some degree, the different perspectives of TransCanada and the shippers on this?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think Mr. Smith's view was -- not view, but his cross-examination was around the benefit of RAM helping to mitigate unabsorbed demand charge costs from the gas supply plan.


So to the extent you have more gas than you need and you assign away capacity, as the gas supply panel testified to, the fact that FT RAM is part of the FT service, we actually get more value for that, that assignment.


So that was Mr. Smith's view.

MR. BRETT:  All right.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Mr. Pohlod, I think, is saying that and other ways, as well, which we have had lots of testimony in this case today and yesterday around how an S&T perspective, you can create value beyond what the gas supply plan needs.  You can optimize a plan beyond what we have in terms of the requirement to mitigate unabsorbed demand charges.


So I think they're both looking at it slightly differently.


MR. BRETT:  Thank you.  Do you agree with me -- well, let me just pass on here to another paragraph, 17 -– this is 17963.  That would be -- that is 17963 and 17961.  That is on page 61, if you turn to page 61.

Again, here Mr. Smith says, at paragraph 17961:

"And the benefit that was projected for -- which included the elimination of RAM, as well as
the –-"


I'm sorry, I want to go down to 17963.


And Smith says to Mr. Pohlod:

"And I guess, Mr. Pohlod, you have 70 percent of your long-haul shippers and your firm shippers saying to you, don't eliminate RAM.  The risk alleviation mechanism really has allowed them to defray unabsorbed demand charges in a significant way in the past years."


Do you see that?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I do.


MR. BRETT:  Now, in fact, though, most of the benefit, what I think the numbers show in the handout today -- certainly K7.3 -- I put this to you as a proposition.  I would like your response.  Is that, in fact, the Union -- most of the benefit from the -- most of the revenue derived from the FT RAM has really not come from a defrayal of unabsorbed demand charges.


It has come from -- at least the revenue that has accrued to the ratepayers has not come from the defrayal of unabsorbed demand charges; only a very small part of it has gone to the ratepayers from the defrayal of unabsorbed demand charges.


Is that not the case?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think you have to look at this in the context of our current incentive regulation framework, Mr. Brett, in terms of, when it got launched in 2008, we had a stretch margin added to our transportation exchange revenue target.


And the stretch target was well above what we were forecasting for 2008 and during that period.

And in return for that, there was no deferral account attached to those regulated revenues.  So the signal to us, which I think was what the signal intended, was if you can do better, you should be incented to do better and do as well as you can.

And we have been very active since 2008 in trying to find creative ways to apply the FT RAM program not only to mitigating UDC on the utility's gas supply plan, but also from an S&T optimization perspective, as well.

So to extent that we've done that, that was the intent of the incentive regulation, was to have incentives like that that we could learn and do our business differently by going through the five years.

MR. BRETT:  Would you -- let me ask you this, Mr. Isherwood and panel.

What I understand to be the case, and what I think we were told last week, is so long as you had empty pipe, so long as you, Union, had empty pipe, if you released that pipe to the market and you achieved revenues from that - we'll call them RAM-enhanced revenues - that indeed those revenues would flow into the UDC deferral account and pass to the benefit of ratepayers; correct?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.

MR. BRETT:  On the other hand, if you had a full pipe, which appears to be the case a lot of the time based on these numbers, if you had a full pipe and you did a transaction with one of the marketing companies or whomever, but it appears from -- if you did a transaction with one of the marketing companies, say a Shell, Coral or a BP, and you earned RAM-enhanced revenues as a result of that transaction, that those revenues did not go to the UDC account; is that correct?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.

MR. BRETT:  They went to the S&T -- they effectively were S&T revenue; right?

MS. ELLIOTT:   Yes.

MR. BRETT:  And at the relevant time - that is to say 2008 through 2012 there - as you pointed out and as we have discussed, there was no S&T deferral account; correct?

MS. ELLIOTT:   That's correct.

MR. BRETT:  Now, let me put the proposition to you that, in effect, what you have done by the second transaction I have described is created a sort of virtual empty pipe which has permitted the large marketing companies to -- and it is a matter of agreement, of course, that with the assignment goes the FT RAM credits.

So what you have done is created a situation where the large marketing companies can earn, and have earned, enormous revenues from the FT RAM, which they then share with you in some ratio or another, depending on your particular transaction.  And you call -- is that fair?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would not classify their capability as enormous.  We have no idea what the capability is.

MR. BRETT:  I take your point.  They could be big or small, or good or not so good.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  But we would -- in the case of where we're assigning them the pipe, we would be sharing in whatever potential upside they're predicting, and we would negotiate that rate.

MR. BRETT:  Right.  And would you not agree that, in essence, what that transaction is or could very well be viewed as is -- well, what it is, in substance, it is a transaction that would -- that reduces or should reduce, should offset or, in Mr. Smith's words, defray the costs of long-term firm tariff service for ratepayers?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We would disagree with that, that premise.

If you go before the incentive regulation settlement, we had an account -- we had an account, the deferral account, before incentive regulation for transportation exchange and --


MR. BRETT:  Yes.  That's the one that goes back a long, long way.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  A long, long way.  We'd do the same activity in that era, the same exchanges, and it would have been shared 75/25.

The distinction here is, starting in 2008 with incentive regulation, by us adopting a higher forecast to be built into margin, which ratepayers benefitted from for the full five years, we were incented -- and, likewise, to eliminate the deferral account entirely -- we were incented to do as well as we could.

MR. BRETT:  Let me ask you on that account.  I don't doubt that you were given an incentive to reduce your costs, particularly your delivery costs, but we're talking about gas costs here, gas transportation costs, which are part of gas costs.

And insofar as gas costs are concerned, they are, would you not agree, of course, outside the framework of the IRM?  They have nothing to do with the IRM?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Gas costs are treated as Y factors.

MR. BRETT:  Right.  And you do have -- you do have -- well, let me put it this way.

I take it it is clear -- and I don't think there would be any disagreement about this, but I will put it.  Would you agree with me you did not ever get approval from this Board to actually characterize the revenues from these assignments when the pipe is full, if I can put it that way, as exchange revenues?  You didn't come in and seek approval for that proposition, as opposed to gas cost deferrals, as opposed to reductions in the -- as opposed to reductions in the -- as opposed to revenues that would be effectively treated as reductions to transportation capacity through the QRAM process.  You didn't get approval for that?

MR. SMITH:  No, I don't agree with that, Mr. Brett.

MR. BRETT:  Well, I am asking the witness if he has a view.  I am asking him a simple question of fact.  I would like him to answer the question.  You can in argument characterize it however you like, Mr. Smith.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Smith has an objection to the question.

MR. SMITH:  I have an objection, because it is not a question of fact.  It is a question of what the Board has permitted.  These are services sold under a regulated rate schedule.  They have been for literally decades, and they were shared.

So I don't think it is a fair question to ask the witness.  That is the objection.

MR. BRETT:  I think Mr. Smith's problem here is that I'm not -- I'm not accepting the assumption that these were exchange revenues.  I am making the proposition that these really are gas cost offsets and, therefore, they never -- they never would have or should have gone into an S&T revenue account.  They should have gone into a gas costs account.

So, in that sense -- and I am going to in a moment point to a gas supply deferral account, which I think was the appropriate account for them to go into.  But that is the nature of my question.  I am challenging the premise of that.

MR. SMITH:  Madam Chair, I do have one other concern about this, and this is we're deep in the weeds on this point.  So at that point I, you know, throw up my hands and say whatever, at some level.

But on the other hand, the utility of this cross-examination can only be to suggest that there should be some sort of correction, which we obviously wouldn't agree is an appropriate process for a 2013 rate case.

You know what we're going to say at the end of the day.  But I guess I wonder about this line of cross-examination for the 2013 cost of service proceeding, but obviously we're deep into it and...

MS. HARE:  Just a moment, please.

[Board Panel confers]


MS. HARE:  Mr. Brett, we understand where you are going with this, but we do think that the record is adequate for you to be able to argue this issue in your submissions.

So we think you should move to another area of cross-examination.

MR. BRETT:  All right.  Yes.  I really am only interested in 2013 at the moment.  I didn't -- I don't recall making any submission about the years prior to the test year, but let me deal next with the gas cost deferral account.

Could you turn up, please, H1, tab 4, appendix A, page 1 of 7?

Do you have that?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Thank you.  What I would like to do is have a look at the TCPL -- this deferral account, 179-100.  I would like to just read this out to you, and in particular, focus on one or two lines.  It says -- this is for TCPL tolls and fuel.  This deferral account was established in 0063.  We talked a little bit about that hearing the other day.
"...to record variances in the per-unit cost of firm gas purchased each month for the north and the unit cost of gas included in the gas sales rate as approved by the Board.  This includes fuel on upstream pipelines, variances in TCPL tolls, the benefit derived from temporary assignment of TCPL capacity..."

I want to stop there.

The benefit derived from temporary assignment of TCPL capacity, that is, in effect -- well, what you are doing in the context of the utilization of these or the transferring of these FT RAM credits to third parties; is that fair?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I think if you turn up the actual accounting order, there is different -- the description in the evidence misses a word.

MR. BRETT:  Where do you have -- could you tell me just where that is?

MS. ELLIOTT:  The actual accounting order for this deferral account is at Exhibit A1, tab 6, page 3 of 23.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Excuse me.  I think it is also at the back of this exhibit, is it not?

No, it's not, actually.  It's -- I don't have that.  If you could put that up on the screen?  Could you just blow that up a little bit?

MS. ELLIOTT:  So it's the second grouping of accounts –-

MR. BRETT:  Sorry, I'm not with you yet.  Would you just tell me what you are reading from, please, there?

MS. ELLIOTT:  So in the second set of accounting entries...

MR. BRETT:  So you are looking at the detailed accounting entry breakdown of this?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Right.

MR. BRETT:  All right.  I am looking at the middle, the paragraph in the middle, "To record as a credit, debit."

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.  It is the benefit of temporary assignments of un-utilized capacity.  The word un-utilized requests is actually missed in the evidence, description of the account.

But it refers to credits from the assignment of un-utilized capacity.  That's dealing with the UDC issue.

MR. BRETT:  Now, is that the only credit account that deals with the UDC?  Or is there a second one?

MS. ELLIOTT:  There is a UDC deferral account.

MR. BRETT:  Yes.  179-108?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.

MR. BRETT:  And what does that deal with?  Sorry.  I'm just looking at page 2 of 7 of appendix A of H-1-4.

It says this deferral account was also established -- I will introduce my own word there:

"...in RP-2013-0063 to record the difference between the actual UDC incurred and the amount of UDC included in approved rates."

Now, I would have thought that -- I would have thought that addresses the UDC.

MS. ELLIOTT:  It actually addresses the UDC incurred and the amount that is included in approved rates, but the additional transaction is the benefit of the assignments.

Now, we're actually capturing the assignment benefit in the account 179-108.

Unfortunately, it's language that is in the accounting order for 179-100, so there's maybe a little housekeeping, in terms of the accounting orders, but --


MR. BRETT:  But you're --


MS. ELLIOTT:  But we're capturing the incurred UDC, what's recovered from customers, as well as the benefit of assignments --


MR. BRETT:  So you're –-

MS. ELLIOTT:  -- all in 179-108.

MR. BRETT:  I'm sorry.

So in other words, when you do these assignments -- I'm going to use Mr. Shorts' language, because I think it is to the point and pithy -- if you do an assignment with an empty pipe, as he put it last week, and you get revenue for that, FT RAM-enhanced revenue, those revenues go into this account 179-108; is that correct?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.

MR. BRETT:  But if you get revenues -- okay.  Well, I must say there is a little homework to do on the definition of the TCPL tolls and fuel, 179-110 -- 100, but that's life.

Let me -- if I may, just coming back, and I will end up with this, because I think I am about at the end of the game here.  I have other stuff but I will worry about that another time.

Essentially, you -- you have been engaged in the RAM exercise in the assignments to third parties, to capitalize on RAM in a major way -- as you put it, Mr. Isherwood -- since 2008, 2008, 2009, 2010, 2011; right?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. BRETT:  And you... let me put the question to you this way.

This subject that I raised of what is the appropriate destination for these revenues has never been the -- to your knowledge, has not been subject of any sort of debate or discussion at the Board in the years of the IRM; is that correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I'm trying to think back to all of the various deferral account hearings.

MR. BRETT:  If you don't know, you just tell me you don't know.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I don't know.

MR. BRETT:  I don't expect you to know all of the detail.

But I don't -- Ms. Elliott, you have been fairly close to deferral accounts historically.  You seem to know just about everything about them, published or unpublished.

[Laughter]


MR. BRETT:  Could you tell me, has this subject been debated, to your knowledge, in any of the deferral account clearing proceedings over the period of the IRM?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Not that I'm aware of.

MR. BRETT:  All right.

MS. ELLIOTT:  But I don't know.

MR. BRETT:  All right.  I suppose no one else has a view on it.  You are really more on the gas.

MR. SMITH:  Can I --


[Laughter]


MR. BRETT:  That's fine.  Those are my questions.  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Thank you, Mr. Brett.

Mr. Warren and Mr. Buonaguro, I have you down for 10 minutes each, but is that dependent of Mr. Thompson is going first?  Or can either one of you go next?

MR. WARREN:  I am happy to go now, or Mr. Buonaguro can go now, but I will be within the 10 minutes.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Thank you.  Mr. Warren, why don't you proceed, then?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Warren:

MR. WARREN: Panel, let me begin by apologizing profusely.  I am going to go over ground that is so well tilled that it is barren.  So my cross-examination will be characteristically inept, but mercifully brief.

What I want to do, if I can, is distill in one place, so that I can understand it, what we know about the amounts in certain storage and transportation accounts over the last five years and their treatment by deferral account or otherwise.

So with that background, if you could begin by turning up J.C-4-5-2, am I right in understanding that the first column on the left is the Board-approved amount, and then, as I move to my right for each of those, is the amount that was earned in each of those categories over the period, over the IRM period; is that correct?

MS. CAMERON:  That's correct.

MR. WARREN:  Now, am I right, Ms. Elliott, that there were no deferral accounts with respect to any of these items during the IRM period?  Is that correct?

MS. ELLIOTT:  There were deferral accounts with respect to lines 10 and 11 --


MR. WARREN:  Okay.

MS. ELLIOTT:  -- the short term storage and other balancing deferral account.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  But with respect to the balance of them, there were no deferral accounts; is that correct?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.

MR. WARREN:  And to the extent that the revenues in items 1 through 8 exceeded the costs, a portion of that would have been shared with ratepayers as a result of the operation of the earnings sharing mechanism; is that correct?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct, yes.

MR. WARREN:  Now --


MS. ELLIOTT:  To the extent that we were in earnings sharing.

MR. WARREN:  I appreciate that.  Thank you for that clarification.

Now, I believe, subject to my reading of the transcript, that there is an undertaking to distinguish between the amounts that would have been earned -- that were earned by ratepayers using the earnings sharing mechanism and what would have been earned had there been deferral accounts.

But if you could just turn up, briefly, K7.3, which was the document that was introduced a few short moments ago through Mr. Brett, and if I look at item -- line 2 in that, which is headed or described as the portion paid to ratepayers through earnings sharing, there's a number 29.4 million.

What relationship, if any, does that number, 29.4 million, have with the amounts that would have been shared with ratepayers in items 1 through 8 on J.C-4-5-2?  Would it be the same number or is it a different number?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Exhibit K7.3 only addresses the component of line 4 on Exhibit J.C-4-5-2, the short-term transportation and exchange revenue.  Within that revenue line will be revenue related to exchanges that were facilitated using FT RAM.

MR. WARREN:  Thank you for that clarification.

Now, for purposes of 2013, which is why we're here today, it is Union's position there should not be any deferral accounts for items 1 through 8 on J.C-4-5-2; is that correct?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct, yes.

MR. WARREN:  And to the extent that there are amounts embedded in rates, the ratepayers would benefit from that, but am I right that if your revenues exceed your costs, the excess will go to the shareholders, in the absence of a deferral account?  Am I right about that?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct, yes.

MR. WARREN:  Now, this may not be within your bailiwick, Ms. Elliott, but can you tell me what the rationale is for not having deferral accounts for items 1 through 8?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I think as Mr. Isherwood indicated earlier, as a test year rate case, we're relying on our test year forecast for these items.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, if you could turn up, please, Exhibit J.H-1-10-3?  I know that my friend, Mr. Aiken, asked questions about this yesterday, but I just want to make certain that -- do you have or are you going to provide an update to the actuals to the end of quarter 2?  Mr. Smith is nodding his head.

MR. SMITH:  I believe we gave an undertaking to that effect.

MR. WARREN:  Thank you very much.  That answers my question.  I have just one other cluster of questions, and that requires us to turn up H3, tab 10, schedule 1.

And these questions require simply the reconciliation of some numbers on that exhibit with the one we were looking at a moment ago, which is J.C-4-5-2.

If you have those two documents in front of you, panel, there appears to be a difference in the numbers with respect to transportation.  Is there a reason for that difference, the forecasts for revenue?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I'm not sure we can answer that question.  This is a schedule prepared by the rate design people.  It might be better put to them.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Just staying with H3, tab 10, schedule 1, looking at the margin included in 2013 rates for the short-term storage and other balancing services, the 4 million, if your margin exceeds that amount, how is the excess treated, Ms. Elliott?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That would be subject to deferral account 179-70.

MR. WARREN:  If you could remind me what the sharing mechanism is for that?

MS. ELLIOTT:  The sharing mechanism is currently 90-10.

MR. WARREN:  My final questions, panel, and this -- sorry.  My final question, panel, is with respect to J.H-1-10-3, and this may well not be within your bailiwick, but for the cost allocation panel.

But if you could turn that up, please, it is headed, "Allocation of 2013 S&T Transactional Margin".

It is just an anomaly.  In the south delivery and storage area, rate M1, that appears to be a debit amount.  Am I reading that correctly?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Again, you probably should put that question to the rates design panel.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.

MS. ELLIOTT:  That is what the schedule is showing.

MR. WARREN:  Those are my questions, and mercifully short.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Mr. Buonaguro, if you can go next, please?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Good afternoon, panel.

I would like to start with a couple of follow-up questions.  If you can turn to J.C-4-7-9, attachment 1?

MS. CAMERON:  We have it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And you were talking this morning -- I think it was with Mr. Quinn -- about the net revenue attributable to RAM benefit, in terms of if you were going to -- you had two options with respect to a deferral account relating to storage and transportation.

And one of the suggestions was that you could add $11.6 million in revenue to the deferral account -- to what was embedded in rates, sorry, and that the deferral account would track relative to that; do you remember that conversation?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And in talking about where the $11.6 million came from, I understood it was a forecast for 2013 of FT RAM-related revenue.

And it was -- you correlated it back to 2011 actuals; is that correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It was based on 2011 activity.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  But the FT RAM program, because TCPL tolls are changing, some of the opportunities will change, as well, in terms of how much you would make on each opportunity.

So it was a bit more complicated than just saying it was '11 revenue.  It was actually '11 revenue adjusted for the change in TCPL's framework and rate structure for 2013.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So the reason I took you to this exhibit is because this one talks about the 2011 actuals of $22 million; do you see that?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  You're saying that the same level of activity in 2011, if it were to occur in 2013, would produce -- wouldn't produce $22 million anymore.  It probably would produce something like 11.6; is that what you're telling me?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Based on the '11 activity, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.  Now, I am going to take you to J3.1, which is a very colourful graph.

I can't tell you how frustrating it is to wait for somebody else to put it up on the screen.

MR. SMITH:  I can't tell you how satisfying it is.

[Laughter]


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And you can -- yes, you can go right up to the graph.

Now, I asked a question about this, and my question is, I think, at J3.7, which was to add a line on the graph which talks about the -- any annual contracts which were assigned; correct?

MR. SHORTS:  Correct.  And that is shown in the -- that's represented by the purple line.

MR. BUONAGURO:   So that is the purple line, just over 140,000 -- I think that is gigajoules per day?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thanks.  Now, if you -- at the bottom of the graph, under one of the notes, it talks about the gas supply plan.  And I can't see on the screen at the moment.

It says:

"Note: The gas supply plan utilizes firm TCPL services (long-haul, short-haul and STS, as shown above) to meet design day obligations."

My understanding is that that is the very top sort of reddish line.  Is that essentially the line -- or the graph representation of the gas supply plan?

MR. SHORTS:  The red line represents the firm assets that we have to serve that design day.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So is that a yes?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

And included in that line would be the annual contracts that the gas supply plan dictates you should enter into before the gas year?  Is that --


MR. SHORTS:  That would include all of those contracts, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And then the purple line shows the effect of what I call the optimization process, where even though the gas supply plan has told you to enter into certain contracts, for optimization purposes you've assigned certain of those contracts on an annual basis.

So they come out of the gas supply plan as one of the assets you're using; is that fair?

MS. CAMERON:  The gas supply plan remains unchanged.  But we did, in those two years, assign some capacity away for an annual basis.

But as you will see going forward, we didn't.

MR. BUONAGURO:  No, I understand that.  That's where it goes back up?

MS. CAMERON:  Absolutely.

MR. BUONAGURO:  The two lines meet again?  Okay.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  When they were assigned away, it was for the S&T optimization.  The gas supply plan would still have called for the 160-plus.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, what I am trying to understand and why I picked annual plans in particular, what I am seeing in this graph is that the gas supply plan says you have to enter into a certain number of contracts or you have to obtain a certain number of assets in order to meet your obligations over the year.

You enter into those contracts, and then before the year even starts, you optimize by assigning some of that capacity out on an annual basis so it disappears and goes from the red line to, I guess, the purple line.

I'm trying to understand how you can do that, and why it wouldn't be that the gas supply plan couldn't anticipate the same thing if you don't need the assets.  It appears on the graph that you don't need the assets even before the year starts.

How is it that that isn't contemplated in the gas supply plan?  Why is it only through optimization that those assets drop off?

MR. SHORTS:  Just to be clear, before the year starts, on a design day basis, we design for a 47 degree day in the EDA.

And that would be the line that would represent it at that 160, the red line.

So our design at -- our design day in the EDA would require all of those assets on that day.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  But in actuality you assign -- I think it is 20,000 gigajoules per day of that capacity before the year starts?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.  So there is actually a two-year period where we did do the one-year annual assignments.

If we saw a peak day coming -- and you would know that, obviously, through weather forecasts and market forecasts -- then the S&T group would have to go out and find a way to get gas to that delivery, and there's probably four or five ways we would go about doing that, but we definitely need to go out and get something supplemental to what we already have.

That would be a cost that would be borne by the S&T group.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  You say that is a cost that is borne by the S&T group, because -- as I understood your testimony, I think mostly from the gas supply panel -- what is charged to customer is based on the red line; is that correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And then it gets very confusing.

You charge based on the red line, but then you assign some of the capacity that you are charging for.  And I think you do that to take advantage of, essentially, the FT RAM credits?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.  All based on FT RAM credits.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Then that produces a net benefit, which then flows through, part of it to the shareholder and some of it to ratepayers, depending on how the sharing mechanism works in any particular year?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It is really the earnings sharing level.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  My question is this.  Let's assume there was no FT RAM, and you assigned that capacity in the same way that you did on this graph, even though there is no FT RAM.  Instead of charging customers on the basis of the red line, you charge customers based on the purple line, and then you would then -- I understand you would have to get additional assets to meet any particular demand in the year that wasn't served by the purple line, I will call it that way.

Wouldn't that be cheaper for customers?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think the prudency, though, of the gas supply plan is to have the firm assets in place to meet the design day.  And the design day, as Mr. Shorts mentioned, is 47 degrees.

So the gas supply plan is designed to meet that on a firm basis.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But you didn't do that; you assigned that same capacity for two years?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  And the --


MR. BUONAGURO:  On an actual operating basis, to some degree, you ignore the gas supply plan?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I wouldn't say we ignored it at all.  The gas supply plan was designed to meet a 47 degree day.  Through optimization, the S&T group would have to go in and take action if we saw that day happening.

I would point out that starting November 1 of '11, we did go back to more normal operation in the EDA, and part of that was to recognize the fact that, you know, when you look at the optimization plan for the year, you would look at what is the risk going forward.  And to be honest, it is partly driven by FT RAM uncertainty and partly driven by you have a bit more control, obviously, if you don't assign away the capacity for the whole season or the whole year.

So -- and that would be our plan going forward into this year, as well, that we would not assign away the 20,000 for the whole winter or the whole year.

MR. BUONAGURO:  My understanding, I think, from what you just said and what you said earlier is that that is largely because the FT RAM availability is uncertain.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think it's a bit of both.  FT RAM, for sure, is a big part of it, but as well, you can do -- we could do optimization on a day-to-day basis, and if you see weather coming, you would just pause your optimization plan for the week or the couple of days or whatever, and let the assets work the way they're supposed to work, and then you optimize once the weather passes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Part of my question was would it be -- would it have been cheaper for customers if you had never contracted for that, in this case, 20,000 gigajoules per day and had operated around it during that period?  Is that correct?

Putting aside the risk factor, I think you're saying from a gas supply point of view, I think you would say:  That is not the risk that we're planning to.

But if you put that aside and take on the extra risk, would it have been cheaper?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We can't set aside the risk.  As a utility, we have to serve the firm demand, the firm market.

MR. BUONAGURO:  You can theoretically set aside the risk.  Just so I can understand that there is a cost differential.

[Witness panel confers]


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Whenever you hold fewer assets or less assets, then it will always be cheaper, but you are exposing yourself to the risk, and the risk is what creates the desire to go to the firm design.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I will leave it at this, this proposition to you, to see if you have any other response, because -- the graph shows clearly, I think, that over a two-year period, despite what the design day told you to plan to, you reduced the firm capacity on an annual basis by 20,000 gigajoules per day and were able to operate like that.


I mean, I don't understand that why it is that just because FT RAM is disappearing, you suddenly have to go back to maintaining over 160,000 in this example, when it seems for two years you didn't need that extra 20,000 gigajoules per day and it seems that that might be cheaper for customers.


It just doesn't reconcile that it's necessary or not necessary simply because of the FT RAM availability.


MR. SHORTS:  Just one clarification.  Over this time period we did not experience a 47 degree day.  So if you notice, the highest spike in '11 that was a 41 degree day, and I believe the one in 2012 was approximately a 28 degree day.  So had we experienced a 47 degree day, we would have required all of those firm assets that were in the plan.


MR. BUONAGURO:  But you didn't have them available, because you had assigned them?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That would have been a risk borne by the S&T group.  They would have went out and found an alternate way of getting the gas.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I am trying to figure out what kind of risk it is, because you would have had to go out and find alternative resources to meet the obligation, right, but it would have been an obligation -- but I think the cost of that would have still been less than having had kept the annual firm transportation over the two-year period.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I guess during this period we don't know what the cost was, because the event never happened.  But it can get very expensive on a cold winter day.  If you had a 47 degree day, it would be expensive.


MR. BUONAGURO:  It just seems odd that the gas supply -- I think I sort of grouped you into the gas supply people and the optimization people, but the gas supply people I understand are clearly planning around that, I think, 47 degree day -- I guess I will call it a peak.


But the optimization people clearly are not, and I don't understand why there is a difference, because -- just because of the FT RAM credits.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would say S&T people are planning for the peak, as well.  They just have to meet the peak differently.


MR. BUONAGURO:  They have a higher tolerance for risk?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  No.  They're confident they can use one of four or five different ways of getting gas to the area when they need it.


MR. BUONAGURO:  But the gas supply people aren't?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  The gas supply people are developing a plan that is based on firm assets.


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That are readily available, are renewable from year to year and are predictable.


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right, thank you.  I can leave it at that.


So I have one set of questions left, and this is from volume 6 of the transcript, which was yesterday, I believe, or -- sorry.  Yes, yesterday.  Pages 131 and 132.


Here you were talking with Mr. Quinn about what were called options 1 and options 2.  Do you remember that conversation?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, options A and options B, I'm told.  Sorry.  And my questions are these.  With respect to what as referred to as option A where you use extra FT credits to create value through some sort of exchange, who does the value accrue to?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  If we are using FT credits to sell and exchange, that would be regulated revenue.  We would classify it as exchange.  It would be regulated revenue.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And so it would be either part of the forecast for that type of revenue, if there is one, and then if it's not part of the forecast that is embedded in rates, it would be subject to whatever sharing was available?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It would be subject to earnings sharing at the end of the day.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And then option B, with respect to option B, you talked about third parties delivering.


Would they be delivering on a firm or an interruptible basis?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It's typically a firm basis.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And again under option B, where does the differential go?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It is treated exactly the same, because whether we do the assignment of the capacity or we actually do the whole mechanism ourselves, it doesn't matter do you do all the steps yourself, or do you negotiate with a marketer to do the steps on your behalf and they share in the profit.  So both are exactly the same transaction, and the revenues are treated the same.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So it is the same.  It is treated as exchange revenue just like we discussed under option A?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It is still regulated revenue and would be contributing first to the forecast that is embedded rates, and then would contribute towards earnings sharing if we get to that point.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Then, lastly, how do you determine whether you will do option A or option B in any particular scenario?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It is up to our S&T group to determine that.


We do a bit of both to diversify.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So there is no -- there's no specific criteria dictating one or the other?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Other than we like to diversify.  We like to do a bit of both.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  We will take our lunch break now, returning at ten to 2:00.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:39 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:57 p.m.

MS. HARE:  Please be seated.

So, Mr. Thompson, you are up.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Thompson:

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  It is always unfortunate to be the last thing on Friday standing between the Panel and the cottage, but in any event, I will try and do this expeditiously.  I know you've heard a lot.

Panel, let me begin with a couple of preliminaries.

First of all, on the basis of the settlement agreement there was supposed to be an increase in the transportation service revenue of $2 million dollars for usage of the St. Clair line, as I understood it.

Is that going to be accommodated in some sort of formal amendment?  Or just in the final impact statement?

MR. SMITH:  It's been updated, Mr. Thompson, in the phase 2 update that we have provided, and...

MR. THOMPSON:  Oh, okay.  I haven't checked that.  Thanks.

Then, secondly, there was an undertaking, as I recall it, to provide details of the arrangements with the assignees and their identity.  This is with respect to capacity assignments that we have been discussing.

Could you give us an update on when we will see that material?

MR. SMITH:  My understanding is it's been filed with the cover letter seeking confidential treatment.  So it's been filed with the Board.

You're talking about the undertaking that lists the counterparties?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And the contracts.  I had understood that we could --


MR. SMITH:  There was no request for the contracts; just the list of the counterparties.

MR. THOMPSON:  Oh, I'm sorry.

MS. HARE:  I'm sorry, Mr. Smith, when was that filed?

MR. SMITH:  It was submitted to the -- I believe to the RESS system yesterday afternoon -- sorry.  Sorry, mailed to the Board yesterday.

MS. HARE:  So I take it, Mr. Thompson, you haven't seen it yet?

MR. THOMPSON:  I haven't seen anything.  So I will wait, and I will come to the contracts in a moment.

Let me move on, then, to some of the discussions that have been taking place over the last couple of days.

Now, when we broke with the gas supply panel, we had understood -- at least I had understood -- there were four types of transactions involving FT RAM, demand charge, mitigation amounts funded by ratepayers, and one of them was the release of unused TCPL capacity to the market.

These were described at page 8 of our gas supply compendium, K3.3, so it might be handy to just have your finger on that and at the top of the page, where these --release of TCPL unused capacity to market.

And questions were asked to give us details on each of these four types of transactions.

And with respect to the first, the exhibit that's been provided is J4.1; am I correct?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And you should also just have at hand Exhibit K7.3, because these transactions are showing up on this exhibit, and I will come to other parts of it in a moment.

But as Mr. Brett pointed out, at line 5, you have -- you have produced in this exhibit a component of what has been provided in J4.4; correct?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And you told Mr. Brett that the amounts in J4.4 are higher than the amounts in line 5, because they involve pipe other than TCPL pipe, as I understood it.

MR. SHORTS:  In J4.1.

MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry, 4.1.  I'm sorry.

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  Okay.  Now, in the J4.1 response, there is a paragraph just before subparagraph (b) that says:

"If the empty pipe is TCPL capacity, when Union leaves the pipe empty, RAM credits are generated and Union's S&T department will act on market opportunities to utilize RAM credits.  From 2007 to 2012, there was one month only when RAM credits of $240,000 were generated, resulting in revenues of $60,000, which flowed through to UDC ratepayers."

When I first read that, I thought what it was saying was, of all of the type 1 transactions, only 60,000 related to RAM credits.

But I take it that's a mistake?  Am I misinterpreting what that paragraph means?

MR. SHORTS:  That second paragraph refers to a time period in which there were some very short time periods in which we did not release the pipe for a couple of days.

To get some value, the pipe was actually not filled by gas supply.  So it was left empty; that generated RAM credits, which the S&T group used to create $60,000 worth of revenue.

And that was credited to the UDC account.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So then that 60 appears in the numbers that you have in line 5 of K7.3; am I correct?

That 60,000 is buried in those numbers somewhere?  Or is it up in one of the other lines?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. THOMPSON:  It's not that big a deal if you want to take an undertaking.

MS. ELLIOTT:  We may need to check.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So I just need a number for that.

MR. SMITH:  We are prepared to do that.

MR. MILLAR:  J7.7.
UNDERTAKING NO. J7.7:  to CONFIRM IF THE $60,000 OF REVENUE FROM S&T GROUP APPEARS IN LINE 5 OF EXHIBIT K7.3

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, when you were discussing line 5 with Mr. Brett, as I understood it, what this is is the full value of the monies that you received for assigning the TCPL pipe that was empty.

Did I understand that correctly?

MR. SHORTS:  You're referring to K7.3?

MR. THOMPSON:  K7.3, line 5.  These numbers were the full value of --


MR. SHORTS:  That's the full release value we received by assigning that TCPL pipe away.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And if you turn up, then, in my compendium, the gas supply compendium, at page 34, what we have here -- this is part of a Union response in the NEB proceeding.

Are you responsible for this topic in the NEB proceeding, Mr. Isherwood?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I am.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So at page 34, Union is describing how it values the FT RAM component of an assignment, and it says at the last sentence:

"For April 2012, the average spread was 59 cents per gJ, or 76 percent of tolls.  Instead, we realized 85 percent of tolls."

So the difference between those two percentages, as I understood it, was attributable to the FT RAM feature of the contracts.

That's what I understood Union to be saying in the NEB; is that correct?

MS. CAMERON:  This -- when we release the pipe, so when we release Empress-to-WDA capacity, we get a value for that pipe.

It is difficult to determine, of that value, how much the customer is paying you based on the market spread between two locations, and how much they're paying you for the value of these credits that they can use anywhere else.

And certainly each party places a different value on this.  The best way that we have to try to determine what value we -- might be attributable to RAM, is to look at the value of two locations and compare the excess must be attributable.  It is not an exact science, but it is the best way we have to approximate.

MR. THOMPSON:  I appreciate that, and I accept that.

That's exactly what you're saying to the NEB:  Our best guess is the RAM feature added, we would get 76 percent of the tolls without RAM, and we get 85 percent of the tolls with RAM.  I am reading that correctly, am I, Mr. Isherwood?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's how it reads, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So that is telling me that about 15 percent of what was achieved on the assignment is attributable to RAM using that methodology; is that fair?

MS. CAMERON:  I would say for this location, that was fair.  But what we see is that that percentage does not equally apply to all pipelines.

For example, Empress to the EDA is a longer distance, has a higher toll and, thus, more credits.

So from time to time - and it's not consistent - we may see higher than 15 percent benefit on a longer path and maybe a shorter path like the WDA, so kind of think of like an eastern Manitoba -- or eastern Ontario, or far western Ontario, sorry, Kenora, a little shorter, not as many credits, not as much benefit.

It is also seasonal.  So thinking there might be more value for credits in the winter or the summer depending on the needs of the customer.

So we did our best job here to approximate it, but it's not a hard and fast rule.

MR. THOMPSON:  I understand that, but my point is at line 5 you haven't done that.  You have put in the full value of TCPL -- the compensation that you got for assigning.

And I suggest to you the RAM portion of it is a percentage in the order of 15 to 20 percent.  Would you take that subject to check?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  You have no way of estimating the percentage.  I think that is the point that Ms. Cameron is trying to make.  One example of the NEB interrogatory was a month for a path, and, as Ms. Cameron pointed out, it is hard to determine what the exact -- it's not an exact science.  It's an estimate, at best.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, you know the zone to which the pipe that was assigned was destined.  So there is a spread for it in the material -- sorry, in market information.

And surely you can take what you got for it, take what you would have got on a spread, and the difference is related to RAM, not the whole.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  There is no tradable spread between Empress, for example, and the NDA.  There is no one valuation in the NDA as an example.

MR. THOMPSON:  Fine.  There is nothing to the WDA either, but they used as a surrogate Empress to Emerson.

You could do this for this line 5, but you didn't do it.  So I am suggesting to you it is overstated.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think the footnote number 2 kind of addresses that point, Mr. Thompson.  It recognizes the fact that it is not an exact science.  You can't separate the RAM benefit from the toll.  But we do recognize that FT RAM does add value to the pipe we are releasing.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  But it is only a portion of this value.  That is what I am getting at.  Can we agree on that?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It is a portion.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  Now, the next category of transaction that was being discussed was the capacity release type of transaction.

Just to be clear on that, what that is is Union finding someone who will give it an exchange, right, and then you release your capacity?  These are described -- you've got an example at JT.1, which is -- sorry, JT1.6, which is page 16 of the brief, and we were discussing that last day.

You assigned to a third party 20,000 gJs of Empress to Union EDA for one month, and the same counterparty agrees to accept Union's supply to Empress and redelivers the equivalent quantity to Dawn, and for this -- for this you pay -- well, you say a customer pays 40 cents per gJ.

Is this a Union exchange that we're talking about here?

MS. CAMERON:  The customer would approach us and ask for the opportunity to have our capacity assigned to them.  But in order for us to do that, we still need to find an alternate way for the gas supplies that we purchased at Empress to get to wherever its planned delivery point is.

So we could not assign the capacity away without also finding an alternate path for the gas supply that we have purchased.  So the two go hand in hand.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, how one describes this type of transaction I think might vary, but let me just, first of all, then take you to an exhibit that you were discussing with Ms. Taylor and Mr. Brett, as well, and that is J3.3.

This is what is described in the examples as the capacity assignment type of transaction; fair?

MS. CAMERON:  Just one moment.

Yes, those are the capacity assignments.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so this -- and when Ms. Taylor said there is a lot wrapped up in this transaction, she's got that bang-on, because essentially what happens is, whether it's the marketer approaches you -- that's the customer you're talking about; right?

MS. CAMERON:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Or whether you approach the marketer, the guts of the deal is you give the marketer the space with the FT RAM credits, and what the marketer does for you, it takes your gas in the west and it gives you the equivalent gas in the east; right?

MS. CAMERON:  And we could accomplish that transaction --


MR. THOMPSON:  First of all, is that right?

MS. CAMERON:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.

MS. CAMERON:  We can accomplish that transaction either through a capacity release, or through an exchange service.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  But the person that wants the exchange is Union Gas.  You're not selling an exchange.  You are really buying an exchange; isn't that correct?

MS. CAMERON:  As an alternative --


MR. THOMPSON:  Isn't that correct?

MS. CAMERON:  Sorry, can you repeat the question, please?

MR. THOMPSON:  You're not selling an exchange.  You're buying an exchange from the marketer.  You want him to take your gas in the west, and give you equivalent amount of gas in the east.  Isn't that what you want?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It is actually a bundled service we're asking for from the marketer.  He's delivering us the gas that we bought at Empress, delivering it to likely the WDA or the NDA in the wintertime, and Dawn in the summertime.  It's a bundled package.

And, as Ms. Cameron pointed out, the alternative is we could do the whole thing ourselves and create RAM credits, and then sell in exchange.  It is just -- and we do both, and we kind of mix it up to diversify.  But we can certainly do it either way.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, the capacity assignment is as I described it.  You want someone to take your gas in the west and give you an equivalent amount in the east; right?

MS. CAMERON:  We also hold the transportation that -- we could do that on our own.  So I already have the pipe -- if I can finish, so I already have the pipe that I can transport the gas from Empress to the EDA.

If the customer is looking for gas in the EDA, we can easily give them our gas supply in the EDA and they will give us in exchange some gas at Dawn.

The two transactions will result in the same gas being in the same places.  It is just whether we facilitate it and you request the service to me each day, or I release the capacity to you and you can facilitate it on your own each day as you require.

MR. THOMPSON:  Can I get a straight answer to my question?  In the capacity assignment transaction, you want the marketer to take your gas in the west and give you an equivalent amount of gas in the east?

MS. CAMERON:  We need the customer to do that in order to facilitate the transaction.  We are more than comfortable proceeding with the initial path without the marketer.

MR. THOMPSON:  For the purpose of that transaction, then, you assign the capacity to the marketer; right?

MS. CAMERON:  That is one option that we can pursue, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  In the capacity assignment transaction, that's what you do?

MS. CAMERON:  If that's the way we chose to satisfy the customer's request, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And when you do that, there is some consideration flowing back and forth.

First of all, the marketer picks up, in this example at J3.2, 121 million of the demand charges.  That's the sum of those -- sorry, that was gJs per month.

In any event, the marketer picks up all of the demand charges?

MS. CAMERON:  The marketer is accountable for paying the demand charge, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And you are getting an exchange; you're having the marketer take your gas in the west and provide an equivalent amount of gas in the east, so you're getting something.

MS. CAMERON:  Which has a cost to it that we have to pay for.

MR. THOMPSON:  Fine.  And then that's all worked into the deal, I assume?

MS. CAMERON:  Absolutely.

MR. THOMPSON:  Then at the end of the day, at the shuffle, there's some net proceeds?

MS. CAMERON:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Am I right the net proceeds are the difference between what you have to pay under the deal and what is in the gas supply plan?

MS. CAMERON:  No.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, what is it, then?

MS. CAMERON:  The net proceeds -- you will see on this chart, for example, in line 1 there with November 9, the demand charge is $33.

I'm not sure exactly what that would equate to on a daily basis, but I am pretty sure that the $63 at the very bottom were -- reflect a daily demand charge of 224, subject to check.

MR. THOMPSON:  Fine.

MS. CAMERON:  That 224 is the cost of transporting gas from Empress to the EDA.

I would say that the average value, difference in value between gas at Empress and gas in the EDA is something much less than that.

So when someone pays -- when we are able to release the capacity, we're not -- they're not willing to pay us $2.24.  It will be a much-reduced value, to reflect the current spread between Empress and the EDA.

So the value that we receive is the current market values from the Empress to the EDA, less our cost to transport gas from Empress to Dawn.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So it is like what you described to the NEB?  You're saying that the value, it's the spread -- well, is it like what you've described to the NEB at page 34 of the material?

If you get 85 percent on the assignment, then you are making the difference from ratepayers; is that right?

MS. CAMERON:  Making the difference from ratepayers?  Sorry, I don't understand that reference.

MR. THOMPSON:  The ratepayers are paying you 2.24; right?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The ratepayers are paying for the contracts that we had in the gas supply plan at the TCPL tariff toll.  That's what was in the plan, and that's what they would pay.

MR. THOMPSON:  Fine.  And you get rid of everything and you get 85 percent of the tolls, in this example, and you get your gas moved from --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think these are totally different transactions.

This is more in terms of trying to mitigate gas supply length, compared to the bundled type of assignment we were talking about a few minutes ago.

Those are very different transactions.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  There is an undertaking that this is all going to be detailed, and I guess I will wait for that, but I assume there is a contract that goes with this?

MS. CAMERON:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And could we -- and is it a standard form contract you have with marketers?

MS. CAMERON:  There is a -- it is already included in an IR response.

MR. THOMPSON:  This is the contract with the marketers?

MS. CAMERON:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, just give me that reference, if you wouldn't mind, and I will deal with it offline.

MS. CAMERON:  It is attachment 3 to J.C-4-7-10.

MR. THOMPSON:  Maybe we do have it, then.  So it is in the book.  My apologies.  I thought I would have this book memorized.

MS. CAMERON:  You have talked a lot about J.C.4-7-10, but perhaps not this particular attachment.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, maybe it isn't in -- anyway, it's there.

What page is that, sorry, in the book?

[Mr. Quinn passes document to Mr. Thompson]


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Sorry.

All right.  Well, I haven't read that and so I will just deal with it later.

But that may help us understand the undertaking response that's coming, I suppose, will it?  Detailing how this is all derived?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It should.

MR. THOMPSON:  Will the contract help us understand the undertaking response that is coming to Ms. Taylor's question about the net proceeds are calculated?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, it should.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It should show you the commercial side of it.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Thanks.  Okay.  So that's the capacity assignment piece.

Another piece that was discussed was the -- the load balancing fee topic, and that, I understand, is dealt with at Exhibit J3.2.

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And my understanding is that the -- in this type of transaction, the RAM credits were used to reduce LBA fees and the benefit of those reduced fees flowed through to ratepayers?

MS. CAMERON:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And so the -- then we find, then, we find that at line 4 of Exhibit K7.3.  These numbers you have there stem from J3.2?

MS. CAMERON:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so at lines 4 and 5 are numbers that flow through the gas supply deferral accounts; have I got that straight?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Thanks.  Okay.  Then the other cases that were being discussed were -- just to put this in context -- were the numbers that -- if we go to page 6 of the brief, we have at line 3 numbers described as "RAM optimization."

And there's been discussion as to what these transactions are all about, and I would like to just follow up on that, because if we go to page 17 of the brief, which is -- has an example of RAM optimization, and if we flip back to the previous page, we have essentially the same transaction that is described as a base exchange.

Have I got that straight?

MS. CAMERON:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And in the base exchange, as I understand it, this is something that's incremental to your gas supply plan and it's not supported in any way by RAM credits.

This is the old way of doings things; is that right?

MS. CAMERON:  That is the current way of doing things, as well.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  The old way and the current way.  So this would be a customer coming to you to help him with -- it with an exchange; is that right?

MS. CAMERON:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  So the customer says, what?  Will you take my gas at Dawn and give me an equivalent amount of gas at Niagara?

MS. CAMERON:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And you say:  Yes, I'll do that for 35 cents?

MS. CAMERON:  We negotiate a price, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And then you say:

"Union serves this exchange with TCPL IT transportation."

What does that mean?

MS. CAMERON:  We would need to get the gas from Dawn to Niagara, and to do so we require some amount of transport on TransCanada, specifically from a location called Kirkwall, near Brantford, to get to Niagara Falls.

So that's a pipe owned by TransCanada, and to ship on that pipe we would incur an incremental cost to do so.

That cost, the cost to transport, would be offset by the revenue earned from the exchange.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So this is all incremental to your gas supply plan?

MS. CAMERON:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And then we go to RAM optimization, so what is the difference?

MS. CAMERON:  The difference is the transaction is identical.  The customer still approaches Union Gas, says:  I have a need for gas at Niagara Falls.  I can give you my gas at Dawn on the same day.

We enter into the same negotiation for the value of the service.  In this case it was 35 cents.  We still need to use TransCanada IT service to transport the gas from Kirkwall to Niagara Falls.


The difference is the cost of that transportation would be offset by the RAM credits that we have otherwise
-- have already generated.


MR. THOMPSON:  So you are using FT RAM amounts, demand charge mitigation amounts, provided by ratepayers to increase the margin in this transaction from 17,961 to 189,784?


MS. CAMERON:  It's not related to the demand charge mitigation.  We have created credits.  We have adjusted the way our gas was delivered to create credits and are using those credits to fund the cost of exchanges.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, fine.  I won't argue with it.  But it is increasing the margin from 17,000 to 189,000 and change?


MS. CAMERON:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And all of that 189,000 is going to revenues.  It is not going through any deferral accounts?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's right.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So those types of transactions, then, are in -- on our K7.3, they're in line 1; correct?  Line 1 comes from the page we were just looking at previously, page -- I think it is 6 at line --


MS. CAMERON:  I believe it is line 5 from attachment 2 of the J.C-4-7-9.  And, yes, those are the revenues that come from exchanges that were funded in some part by RAM.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And that is a bundle.  On page 6 of my brief, that includes capacity assignments and this RAM optimization stuff; right?


MS. CAMERON:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And RAM optimization is at line 3, and it really started in 2009 and has been ramping up ever since?


MS. CAMERON:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.


MS. CAMERON:  And the difference between RAM optimization and capacity assignments is whether we provide in an exchange, so we sold a Dawn to Niagara service, or we assigned our capacity to a customer and they facilitated the exchange themselves or the transportation themselves.


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, so that example involved a customer coming to you.  Now, there seems to be another case of RAM optimization, and I say that because of what you provided in the National Energy Board.


And so if you go to -- if you go to page 31 of the brief, at the top of the page, it says:

"In 2008 Union began to use the RAM program by applying available RAM credits earned on empty FT pipe to transport Empress supplies to various delivery areas to meet market demands for customers."

Just stopping there, I am reading that to mean transport Union's Empress supplies.  Am I right?


MS. CAMERON:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so this isn't -- this isn't an exchange transaction.  This is a different way of carrying in your own supplies to market?


MS. CAMERON:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And then you go on in this material that you provided to the Board -- and just backing up, what I understand you're doing is you look at the cost of doing this as per plan, firm FT, long-haul, STS and all the rest, and then you look at:   What if I leave my pipe empty and use my IT credits to get it there, because I'm not stuck with delivery points and all the rest, and, if it's cheaper, I will do the latter; is that fair?


MS. CAMERON:  I don't know about the connotation with cheaper, but certainly we will look for opportunities.


We've talked a little bit about the Empress to CDA optimization where we would -- rather than deliver gas to the CDA, we would follow the plan and deliver the gas to the WDA, drop that gas off early and create some amount of credits.


Those credits would be used to fund some amount of exchanges that we transact at a different time.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, what I'm driving at is, in this RAM optimization number at line 3 on page 8, there are the customer-type examples that you have described in the undertaking response, technical conference undertaking response, and then there are these other examples where you are actually using IT to move your own gas, rather than the assets that you have in the plan?


MS. CAMERON:  And to be clear, when we use IT -- so in the example where we're transporting gas, we have a contract to transport gas from Empress to the CDA.  We chose to use IT to transport that gas from Empress to the WDA.  We incur an incremental transportation cost to do that.  There is IT costs associated with that, where we use the RAM generated, the RAM credits from leaving the pipe empty, to fund the IT costs.

Any RAM credits left after paying for the IT transport are what we use to fund the exchanges.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think it is important to note, though, that the example we were using this morning, as well, is, in that long-haul pipeline where it is going to the EDA, we may stop the flow and just keep it in the NDA or WDA, but the path between Empress and those two points would still be firm.


We're not necessarily using IT capacity in the examples we were using this morning or just mentioned.  It is still firm pipe, and we still get the gas EDA needs to the EDA on a firm basis.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I am just interested in -- I don't want to get sidetracked, firm, interruptible and all the rest.  You're using IT that is available because you have decided to empty the FT -- sorry, you are using RAM credits to support the IT because of FT that you have decided to leave empty?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  So the example I just gave where we leave the gas in the WDA, we're using the same contract to go from Empress to the WDA, still firm, not far.  But we do create credits on the path -- the rest of the path that we're not using.  We use those in other transactions.


MR. THOMPSON:  But in the NEB response, it appears that this type of transaction that you have described at the top of page 31 is something that is being used considerably, because you say at the bottom of page 31 that you have used more than 200 pJs of IT that was paid for by these RAM credits.


If you go over to page 35, you will see that displayed at line 6 for the years 2007 to 2012.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. THOMPSON:  So this is not an exchange.  It is using IT to move your own gas?


MS. CAMERON:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And would it be possible to tell us how much, at line 3 on page 6, involves that type of RAM optimization transaction?  Would it be most of it?  And I am happy to have an undertaking, if that is the best way to do it.


MR. SMITH:  Why don't we do it by way of undertaking?


MR. MILLAR:  J7.8.

UNDERTAKING NO. J7.8:  TO PROVIDE HOW MUCH OF FIGURE AT ATTACHMENT 2 OF J.C-4-7-9, LINE 3, PAGE 6 INVOLVES RAM OPTIMIZATION TRANSACTION.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  And so when we shake this all down, this brings me to K7.3 -- well, just before I do that, there is one other area that I wanted to get clarified, and that's at page 5 of my compendium.  It is attachment 1 to J.C-4-7-9.


You will see at line 3 there is a number "RAM credits generated"?  And if you take it, subject to check, the total of those dollars over to 2011 inclusive is $93.6 million, I believe; would you take that, subject to check?

MS. CAMERON:  I will accept that, subject to check.

MR. THOMPSON:  And what is that?

MS. CAMERON:  That is the value of transportation that we could use on TransCanada, but you will see that that does not translate into a dollar-for-dollar result.

So the revenue earned is not a dollar-for-dollar exchange for the credits generated.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  So line 1, then, is -- when you say "net revenue attributable to RAM benefits" that's net of what?

MS. CAMERON:  As we had talked about, to the extent that we will leave some amount of our firm capacity empty
-- so going back to Mr. Isherwood's Empress-to-EDA example -- if we leave our Empress-to-EDA capacity empty in the summer and we need to purchase an Empress-to-Dawn exchange to get that gas to Dawn in the summer, where it was destined to go, there is a cost associated with that.

So this net revenue reflect the costs of finding alternate transportation arrangements, plus the benefit that we would have got from the created credits to use for other exchanges.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  You have a bunch of stars
-- well, sorry.

So Mr. Quinn was trying to find out where the STS costs and all of that stuff went, or where they turn up, but the total is 93.6 for 2011 for RAM credits generated and the net is about 53.1; would you take that, subject to check?

MS. CAMERON:  Sorry, for 2011?

MR. THOMPSON:  To 2011, at line 1, I totalled the cumulative amounts to be 53.1 million.

MS. CAMERON:  For line 1?

MR. THOMPSON:  For line 1, to the end of 2011.

MS. CAMERON:  Okay.  I will accept that, subject to check.

MR. THOMPSON:  And the RAM credits generated for the same period, I totalled to be 93.6, and you took that subject to check.

So there is a difference of about $40 million, big picture, and you're saying that is going to cost for something?

MS. CAMERON:  Not...  There is a cost to purchase the alternate transportation, which is offset here, so we will use our credits for that.

So they don't generate a revenue directly.

And not -- if you have 2.24 of credits, you might not be able to get 224 of value.

For example, when we use the -- an example earlier today of the Empress-to-EDA capacity, while the toll is 2.24 and you would get something around 2.24 of credits, the customer may only pay you $1.25 for that.  So that is part of where you're not going to get a dollar-for-dollar result.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So I understand that.

I think what you're telling me is not all that $40 million is cost.  Part of it is the discount, and then there may be some costs that come off the discount?

MS. CAMERON:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So then back to page 6, there is a line 4 called "Other" which is positive in two years and negative in three years.

Is that representing costs that you are talking about?  If not, what is "Other"?

MS. CAMERON:  "Other" reflects DOS MN revenues, and the costs to buy the third -- to buy the alternate transportation arrangements.

MR. THOMPSON:  And how much is DOS MN revenues?  Could you give me that by undertaking?

I understood you to say this service is discontinued?

MS. CAMERON:  Yeah, it --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It only showed up in '08 and '09.

MR. THOMPSON:  So would those two numbers positive be that revenue, roughly, or --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Part of it.

MR. THOMPSON:  Could I ask you to provide by way of undertaking the part that's DOS MN?

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we will do that.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  J7.9.
UNDERTAKING NO. J7.9:  TO PROVIDE DOS MN PORTION OF REVENUE.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Fine.  So I think I have the numbers straight now.

So if I could just go -- take you to K7.3, what we have at line 1 is coming from line 5 on page 6; correct?

MS. CAMERON:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And what we have at line 2 stems from Exhibit J.E-3-5-1, which shows -- and you might want to just put that up on the screen so people can track this.

What this interrogatory displays is the portion of overearnings in each year, or revenue sufficiencies in each year, and then the portion that's retained by you and the portion allocated to customers based on the earnings sharing formula; fair?  Is that your understanding of it?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so what we've done -- and Union has corrected my numbers, but we've derived from this exhibit, J.E-3-1, the portion of the RAM revenue that is flowed through to earnings sharing, flowed through to ratepayers through earnings sharing, and that is shown at line 2.

Would you take that, subject to check?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And that totals 29.4, as shown in column 7.

And the difference, then, 37.9 million at column 7, is the portion of FT demand charge -- I call them mitigation amounts, not yet credited to ratepayers; correct?

That's what the number is?

MR. SMITH:  Well, it says "Portion paid to shareholder."

I don't know what the "not yet credited to ratepayers" means.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, that is my heading of the chart.  You folks put your own buzzwords in there, and I am putting mine back.

[Laughter]


MR. SMITH:  It's a silly game.

MR. THOMPSON:  Anyway, we know what the number is.  You've got it and it is ours, is my point.

[Laughter]


MR. SMITH:  Well...

MR. THOMPSON:  Then underneath that, underneath that we have these other two types of transactions, where the value of the RAM credits has actually flowed through to ratepayers through the deferral account.  But those two -- well, anyway, that is what they are; fair?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Okay.  Now, I just want to touch on another part of Exhibit J4.2.  It is the attachment that I want to check on.

You had some discussion about this with Mr. Quinn, and he was referring to some monthly reports that TransCanada releases; do you recall that, dealing with the assigned capacity?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So what I'm -- and there was some discussion about what you've done for the balance of the gas year 2012, and then what you are planning for 2012/'13.

Do you recall that discussion?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And so what I'm -- what I took from the discussion is this.  If we go to the last column down there, lines 17, 18, 19 and 20, and if we just put in boxes there for the rest of the months for 2012, so that would be for June, July, August, September, October, are you with me so far?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  What I took from the discussion is that you could today fill in the numbers that have been assigned for each of those lines.  Am I correct?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. ISHERWOOD:  To the extent that we've fully completed the optimization plan, then we could fill in the boxes, and we think we have, but there may still be small pieces here and there.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, would I be correct -- and if not, perhaps you could undertake to do this, is to fill in the lines, But would I be correct that for the months June and July at least, the number at line 17 is 117,796?

MS. CAMERON:  Subject to check, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And the number at line 18 is 40,000?

MS. CAMERON:  Subject to check, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And the number at line 19 is 60,000 -- Sorry, 69,000?

MS. CAMERON:  Sixty-nine, yes, subject to check.

MR. THOMPSON:  And the number at line 20 is 8,796?

MS. CAMERON:  Subject to check.

MR. THOMPSON:  And would I be correct that unless there's some unexpected turn of events, those numbers will carry right through till October of 2008?

MS. CAMERON:  Subject to check, yes.

MR. SMITH:  Sorry, do you mean carry forward to 20 --


MS. CAMERON:  They would go to October.

MR. THOMPSON:  I was looking at the top column there.

MR. SMITH:  2012.

MR. THOMPSON:  2012.  Thank you, Mr. Smith.

What would I do without you?

[Laughter]

MR. THOMPSON:  Now.

MR. SMITH:  I really don't know.

[Laughter]

MR. THOMPSON:  Then in terms of -- and if we reproduce the same box with additional lines for '12, '13 down below, I understood the discussion to be we're not sure yet what we're going to do?

MS. CAMERON:  We have not done any capacity assignments for the winter for EDA.

MR. THOMPSON:  But are these assignments evergreen?  In other words, if you don't do anything, they carry on month to month?

MS. CAMERON:  No.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, just asking.

[Laughter]

MR. THOMPSON:  And so when you decide in your own minds how long RAM is likely to continue, will there be assignment-type decisions being made before November 2012?  In other words, will these numbers appear once again in the winter 2012/2013 scenario?

MS. CAMERON:  So as you look at last winter, we didn't do any assignments to the EDA for the winter last year.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.

MS. CAMERON:  I'm not sure that we will do any for this winter.  We certainly haven't planned any to date.

That will be, in some part, due to customer demand, as well as our own appetite for doing assignments versus providing exchange service on a daily basis.

MR. THOMPSON:  I see that, but for the CDA you did them, and for the NCDA you did them, and I am assuming you will do them again, if RAM continues.

MS. CAMERON:  It will depend on customer demand for the service.  Once again, customer demands are tied to the FT RAM program, and, as it continues to be some uncertainty, that will -- that will impact demand for the service.

MR. THOMPSON:  But when you say "customer", you're talking about a marketer --


MS. CAMERON:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  -- coming to you and saying, I want your space and I will move your gas from A to B, or whatever?

MS. CAMERON:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  It's not Joe Q customer in Ontario that you are waiting on.  You are waiting on the marketers?

MS. CAMERON:  Somebody outside our franchise area.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now, the next thing I wanted to take you to is in our brief.  It's pages 96 and 97, and this may be for Mr. Isherwood or Mr. Shorts, or I don't know who.

This is an excerpt from your 2010 deferral accounts clearance case.  In that particular case, Union discovered that it had charged ratepayers more than it should have for gas costs in prior years, and it brought that forward in 2010 to post the amount that had been overcharged to the 2010 deferral account.

Would you take that subject to check?

MS. ELLIOTT:  We had determined that we had not refunded the correct amount of UDC as a result of not capturing the toll changes that took place in our rates, and we corrected that in the 2010 deferral disposition proceeding.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, isn't that what I said?  Overcharging and not refunding is one in the same.

MS. ELLIOTT:  The customers' rates reflected the updated TCPL tolls.  The error was in the calculation of the deferral account.  We did not credit the deferral account with the amount the customer had actually paid.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  But the point is that it went back some years, two-and-a-half years, I believe, and the remedy that Union proposed and everybody accepted, including the Board, was, We'll just do an entry in the deferral account in the current year to correct for that situation.

That's what happened; is that fair?

MS. ELLIOTT:  We were correcting a calculation error in the deferral account, and we did that retroactively to when the error occurred.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, I won't argue with you about what its characterization is.

It won't surprise you that that's what we think should happen here with respect to the $37 million and some odd, because we say that is gas costs.

Now, that then brings me to the next area, which relates to the examination-in-chief that you provided the other day.  It is Exhibit K6.4, and you were doing this in a pre-emptive strike on my ex-franchise revenue witness panel package.

Now, I just want to understand what it is you are trying to say in your examination-in-chief.  As you know, we characterize these FT RAM demand mitigation amounts as gas supply charge items that should be credited to ratepayers, and I take it that you are characterizing them as something else.  And what is the something else that you characterize them as?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We characterize them as regulated revenues.

MR. THOMPSON:  Regulated revenues?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And do you characterize them as --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I should back up.  The FT RAM credits by themselves are not regulated revenues, but the S&T transactions stemming from them are the regulated revenues.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  There was a lot of discussion about history in your examination-in-chief, and it started with -- at page 1 of your K6.4, where there was a definition of "exchange".

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And this is an exchange being described as between party A and party B, and Union facilitating that exchange.  That is what I take from the description.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  This is Union's definition of
"exchange"; that's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  But it involves a third party, third party's gas, not Union's gas.

It is not Union seeking an exchange.  It is the third party seeking the exchange; fair?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  In this definition, Union Gas is giving gas to a party in a location, and we're getting the party B's gas at another location.

So we are actually exchanging the party B's gas from one location to another.

MR. THOMPSON:  This evidence dates back to May 2003, I believe.  The interrogatory response is August.

Then at pages 2 and following, there is a description in your in-chief binder from that case, describing how transactional services were conducted at that time; is that fair?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Sorry, which page are you on, Mr. Thompson?

MR. THOMPSON:  Page 2.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  And 3?

MR. THOMPSON:  "Union forecasts assets to meet its in-franchise demands."

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And it goes on:

"Any remaining assets are used to support the sale of transactional services."

It talks about the gas supply plan at line 22, and over on page 3, at line 3, it says:

"There will be few, if any, firm assets to support transactional services on a future plan basis."

Then at lines 5 and 6, it says that:

"Incremental firm assets will tend to be available as a result of both weather and market variances."

In other words, it depends on weather and market and other conditions before you could do transactional services in those days.  That's the way it was looked at?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would agree with that.  So prior to FT RAM program, that is exactly how transportation exchanges were being accounted for.

And going forward in 2013, if FT RAM does end and terminate, then it would be back to this type of operation.

MR. THOMPSON:  But the FT RAM-type transaction, where you actually adopt a different plan from your gas supply plan, that didn't emerge until well after this case; I think you said it was 2008 or later?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That primarily emerged in 2008.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And in terms of the dollar amounts that you were forecasting for this type of activity, if you go to page 6 -- in the prefiled evidence, you're making the case this is a declining area, and at page 6, you noted -- sorry, it is noted in the decision under "Transportation and Exchange" that your actual for 2002, 12.5, 2003, 5.8 and 2.5.

So this decline was being painted at that time, right?  This is where you thought it was going?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  This is back in 2004, that's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And nobody knew any differently at that time; correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And in the 2007 case, your forecast was $2.1 million for this kind of activity.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That was actually a margin number, not a revenue number.  That's an important distinction.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, in any event, your margin number was -- forecast was 2.1.

In your evidence-in-chief, you have these deferral account items, 10, 11, 12 and 13, and I took it from the evidence-in-chief that what you are saying is these FT-type RAM transactions are covered by these deferral accounts.  And they were closed, and therefore, ratepayers, you're out of luck.

Am I understanding the company's position correctly?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Our position is the activities we're doing since 2008 are very consistent with what was done prior to the incentive regulation.

The only difference is the FT RAM program was added to an FT service as an enhancement to the service.

Otherwise, the transactions are very similar.

MR. THOMPSON:  I understand that, but is the company saying that they are covered or they would have been covered by these particular deferral accounts, and since they were closed, ratepayers are out of luck?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think it is a feature or definition of the incentive regulation settlement that we went through, where our margin forecast for the storage -– sorry, the transmission exchange activity was actually increased from the 2 million to 6.9 million.

And that was a risk that was added to Union Gas, and that was a benefit that was added to the ratepayers.

And our objective during incentive regulation was to do as well as we could in that account, and any success we had would ultimately be shared through the earnings sharing mechanism, and not at the service level or deferral account level.

MR. THOMPSON:  No, but the consideration for the four million or 4.3 was the closure of these accounts.

FT RAM was never, in evidence, discussed.  I doubt that you even knew about it.  Certainly ratepayers didn't, and I don't think the Board knew about it.

But the consideration of four was with respect to the closure of these deferral accounts.  So what I am trying to find out:  Are you saying these FT RAM credits fall within the ambit of these deferral accounts?

Because if you aren't, then I can move on.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The activity that resulted from FT RAM -- we were able to do transportation exchange activity -- would, prior to the incentive regulation, would have fallen into these accounts.

And it is for that reason we consider them to be traps and exchange revenue, regulated revenue, and shared at the earnings level and not at the service level.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, maybe I can get you to agree with this.

Certainly this activity, the RAM-type activity, does not, I suggest to you, does not fall within the ambit of the deferral accounts at 11, 12 and 13.  One is "other S&T services," which is the name changes and that kind of thing.  174 is -- at page 12 is "supplemental load balancing," and 13 is "heating value."

The only account that I think could possibly apply is 179-69.  Is that the one you say applies?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  In my testimony earlier in the day, we had talked about what happens if FT RAM continues in 2013 and beyond.

And in our evidence, in some interrogatories I had pointed to, we talked about there being a potential for the Board, at their choosing, to pick several different options in terms of reinstating a deferral account around FT RAM.

And I would assume, subject to Ms. Elliott's confirmation, it would be an account similar to this.

MR. THOMPSON:  I don't think I have an answer to my question.

Do you say the FT RAM optimization transactions fall inside or outside the ambit of account 179-69?

MS. ELLIOTT:  When 179-69 was effective, it captured all of the transportation and exchange revenues or the variances in those revenues between the actual and the Board-approved.

That account was eliminated in 2008.

MR. THOMPSON:  So what's the answer to my question?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Exchange revenues, prior to 2008, would have been -- variances in exchange revenues would have been captured in this account.

MR. THOMPSON:  Actually, what it says is "between actual net revenues for transportation and exchange services."

Can I put in there, parenthetically, "provided by Union"?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.  It's a Union deferral account.  It would be Union's revenues.  It would be revenues from services provided by Union.

MR. THOMPSON:  To the extent, as we have discussed, the marketers are giving you an exchange, and to the extent you are using IT not for an exchange but to move your own gas to points east, your own western gas, I suggest to you those activities clearly do not fall within the ambit of exchange services, by definition, provided by Union, and secondly, they were unknown at the time.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think as we described earlier, Mr. Thompson, when we do optimization around the FT RAM program, we have two options.

One is to do a bundled package, if you wish, with a marketer, where we actually get a net revenue coming back.

Or, secondly, we can actually optimize it ourselves and sell in exchange.

And we consider those two things to be equivalent.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, would you agree with me you really had little, if any, idea about the RAM benefits that you could extract at the time that those accounts were eliminated?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think I go back to the beginning of the incentive regulation, and the intent or the purpose of it was to give the utility some flexibility to create new services to find new ways to earn revenue.

And I would give the Union Gas team some credit in terms of how they have been able to maximize the ability to earn revenue on that program.

And to the extent that RAM continues in 2013 and beyond, subject to having some sort of deferral account around RAM, that would be to the benefit of the ratepayer.  That was the whole extent of incentive regulation, find new ways of doing business.

MR. THOMPSON:  I don't think you answered my question.  I'm suggesting you knew little, if anything, about this back in 2007 and that the light went on later.  And if you would turn up page 32 of my brief, again, this is something you say in a response in the TransCanada case, middle of the page:
"It has taken Union and the other market participants several few years to gain experience with the RAM program and to fully understand to realize its full benefit."

I might put that in other words, but that is what you said in the TransCanada case; fair?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That is my last response, as well.  I'm saying the Union Gas team has been very creative in finding ways to move gas and optimize the gas supply plan and earn those revenues.  It is consistent with that paragraph.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Then in terms of the history, just to do this quickly, because I am trying to keep within my allotted time, you have your compendium that dealt with parts of it.

I just wanted to quickly, if I could, take you through Exhibit K6.5.  This all relates to the history.  I assume you folks have had a chance to look at this?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so at the first page, what we have is the Natural Gas Regulation in Ontario, Natural Gas Forum Report, and I have included there the excerpts from the Board's report dealing with deferral accounts.

And that is one of the things you referenced in subsequent filings; fair?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And then at page 8, what we have attached is -- and this was in the 2005-0520 case.  This was the proposal initially made to close certain S&T accounts, and we find that at the bottom of page 9 and over at the top of page 10 of my brief.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Is that fair?

The settlement agreement in that case you will find starting at page 12, and at page 21 the arrangement was, in that case, that the S&T -- see at the top of the page the S&T deferral accounts will remain in operation until the NGEIR proceeding determines otherwise?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I believe the Board had actually sent a letter to participants suggesting that this issue be moved to NGEIR.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, we had the good sense to agree with that.

[Laughter]

MR. THOMPSON:  In any event, then we get to -- my next document is the NGEIR case, where this issue came up.  And at page 24, there's a description of some submissions on the point, and at page 25 the Board concludes that they will be maintained and reviewed until -- sorry, part of the process for setting the incentive regulation mechanism; fair?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, in that NGEIR case, I had an exhibit that I wanted to just get marked for the record, if I might.

Sorry, I will come back to that.  Let's get this out of the way.

Then we have the next -- the next document is the proposals in the incentive regulation case.  Starting at page 27 is Union's evidence, and I think this is in your compendium, as well, at page 29.

You have the proposal to eliminate these deferral accounts; fair?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Fair.

MR. THOMPSON:  And there is another passage at page 33 of the brief that deals with that proposal, other deferral accounts.  I think it is related.

Then following that, at page 34, we have the settlement agreement in that case; right?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  At page 36, you will see the agreement to the elimination of the four accounts.

Then at page 38 - you mentioned this in your examination-in-chief - 4.3 million was added to the 2.6 million embedded in rates for a total of $6.9 million?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  You indicated in-chief that your base exchange revenues that you are forecasting this year, at about $9.1 million, have been on average that level over the years?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.  There is an interrogatory that actually shows the base revenue from exchanges back during the last five years, and 9.1 is at the higher end of the range, but, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  But remember this included closure of other deferral account balances, and they had to have some value.

Can you provide, by way of undertaking, the total amounts for the S&T revenues margin for the years '4, '5 and '6 - that is actual, and so it should reflect -- I'm hoping it will reflect what flowed through the deferral account.

Can that be done?

MS. CAMERON:  Sorry, could you repeat the question, please?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  I'm just trying to get the actual numbers for exchange revenues for the years 2004, 2005, 2006.

MS. CAMERON:  Just one moment, please.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I will point out the 4.3 is -- I've said this a couple of times, but it is a margin, not a revenue.  Revenue is higher than that.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, fine.  Then give me the margins.

MS. CAMERON:  Actually, Mr. Thompson, in our original filed evidence, so Exhibit C1, tab 3, page 12, we did provide the exchange revenue for 2006.  We didn't provide 2004 or 2005.

In 2006, the revenue was $2.6 million.

MR. THOMPSON:  Fine.  Then the other items that should be added to that, though, are the amounts as of 2006 - and I would like it back to 2004 - related to deferral account 179-73, 179-74, and 179-89.

Can those amounts be provided by way of undertaking?

MR. SMITH:  There is no doubt we can get the numbers.  I guess I'm struggling with the relevance of it, but we will get the numbers.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  J7.10.
UNDERTAKING NO. J7.10:  TO PROVIDE ACTUAL NUMBERS FOR EXCHANGE REVENUES FOR THE YEARS 2004, 2005, AND RELATED TO DEFERRAL ACCOUNT 179-73, 179-74, AND 179-89 FOR 2004, 2005 AND 2006.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Thompson, can you give me a time estimate?

MR. THOMPSON:  Ouch.  I can try and do it in 15 minutes, if that is --


MS. HARE:  I am wondering, then, if we should take a short break of ten minutes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  So we will return in ten minutes.

--- Recess taken at 3:15 p.m.

--- On resuming at 3:31 p.m.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.

So, Mr. Thompson, if you could resume, please?

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Just quickly, Mr. Isherwood, just to finish off the -- identifying the documents in this K6.5, we are at page 41.

That's a description of the "non-authorized overrun, must nominate service."  Would you agree?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That was a description of the DOS MN for the first year of it, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, does anything turn on that?  Is --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It did change the second year.  I mentioned that this morning.

MR. THOMPSON:  Am I correct that this service is not in any way supported by FT RAM credits?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It was independent of FT RAM.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Thank you.

Now, in terms of the proceeding in that case, there is -- at page 46, there is one interrogatory that was -- addressed it.

Then I have attached the CME argument, the excerpt at page 49, where we asked a question, and at page 50, there is Union reply argument responding.

And then at page 52 and following, the Board's decision.

Would you take that, subject to check?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And then following that, there is an exhibit that was filed by Union in a subsequent case, again in response to an interrogatory describing FT RAM and MS-DOS -– or, sorry, DOS MN, excuse me?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  This is page 62?

MR. THOMPSON:  Page 62, yes.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And in the response here, you talk about Union extracting value from FT RAM.

I suggest to you the value is there, and it is provided by ratepayers who paid the demand charges.  You didn't extract anything; you took the value that the program provided.  Would you agree?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would not.

MR. THOMPSON:  You would not?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would not agree, no.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, all right.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  As I mentioned, I think FT RAM got developed -- at Union Gas, at least -- from the people that were in the market.

So it is actually a feature of FT service on TransCanada that we were able to find ways to create the value.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, I will leave that for argument.

Going forward, if I might, in terms of the balance of 2012, I am just looking at K7.3, where we have the forecast at 14.2 for the year.  That came from an exhibit we referenced previously.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And where are we year-to-date with FT RAM?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I believe that is an earlier undertaking we have taken to provide that number

MR. SMIOTH:  It is.

MR. THOMPSON:  If it goes for 12 months, do you have a current forecast of how much it will be?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  There was an interrogatory we had answered that, if it went for 12 months, we would add approximately $3.6 million to the original forecast over a 12-month period.

Our forecast right now for 2012 included only as far as October 31 of FT RAM.  So if it does go the extra two months, which at this point in time it looks like it will, we had said it would be about $3.6 million.

MR. THOMPSON:  So another 3.6 for an added two months?  Is that what you're saying?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Relative to the original -- relative to the original forecast, that's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  But going back to the discussion we had about the assignments -- and we could fill in the numbers for the balance of the year -- I assume these FT RAM amounts get booked monthly, based on those assignments?  Is that the way it works?

MS. ELLIOTT:  The revenue gets recorded monthly as the deals are executed, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I'm just trying to get my head around a realistic forecast for 2012, on the assumption FT RAM goes to year-end.  Could you add that to the undertaking that you are providing?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think the undertaking is to provide the actual results till the end of June of this year, I believe.

MR. SMITH:  That's right.

MR. THOMPSON:  Could we add, then, a forecast for the balance of the year, assuming FT RAM continues for the balance of the year?

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we will do that.

MR. THOMPSON:  Do I need a separate number to that, or can that just be added to the previous undertaking?

MR. SMITH:  We should give it a separate number.

MR. MILLAR:  J7.11.
UNDERTAKING NO. J7.11:  to PROVIDE A FORECAST FOR THE BALANCE OF 2012, ASSUMING FT RAM CONTINUES FOR THE BALANCE OF THE YEAR.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, in -- looking at 2013 -- and I would ask you to consider this on an assumption.  Assume that these amounts will be classified as gas cost reductions, the FT RAM credit amounts that Union realizes.

And my question is:  If that happens, will Union continue to engage in the activities that it has been engaging in previously?

In other words, if there is nothing in it for the shareholder, are you going to down tools?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think the testimony I gave this morning, Mr. Thompson, was that our proposal was if the Board so decided, that there would be a deferral account around the transportation exchange revenue, with protection on the downside and 75-25 sharing on the upside.

And there are a couple of different combinations of doing that.

MR. THOMPSON:  My question is a different one.

Assume they're classified as gas costs, gas cost reductions.  In which case, you wouldn't ordinarily get anything.

My question is:  Will you continue to engage in these transactions to reduce the cost of gas?  That is really what I am asking.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think in that case -- and I am not sure how the mechanics would work, Mr. Thompson, but I would still suggest there would be some sharing of some kind.

MR. THOMPSON:  What you're saying is you need, the company needs an incentive to do this, even if they're classified as gas costs.  That is what I hear you saying.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think it is a different part of our business.  It is the S&T group that does the transactions, and in order to get them focussed on these transactions, then I think there is an appropriate sharing.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, isn't that an answer yes to my question?  You need an incentive to do it?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would strongly suggest we need incentive.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Your incentive is suggested as 25 percent?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Would you take 10?

[Laughter]


MR. SMITH:  Are we back in the settlement conference, Mr. Thompson?  The answer is no.

MR. THOMPSON:  Moving on.  Thank you.

With respect to other storage and transportation issues, I wonder if you could just put up J.C-4-5-2 again, attachment 1.

This was a document Mr. Warren was talking about.

And just looking at M12 transportation, the actuals 2011, 138,273; 2010, 142 million 421; and then 2013, a very significant drop.

And there's been discussion about that with others, about repurposing the pipe and that kind of thing.

Do you agree that Union has considerable flexibility under C1, short-term transportation, to repurpose the pipe?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think, just to clarify the table, we have a new product called M12X transportation, which some customers have chosen to convert for M12 to M12X.

So for the purpose of this chart, we have actually broken it out, but for the purpose of looking at M12 revenue I think it would be more appropriate to add those two lines together.

So 2011 would be roughly 139.6.

2012 is going to be 138, almost 139 million.

And then 2013 would be 135 million.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And big picture, there's about a $4 million decrease there that some might question, but I think I will just leave it as that and move on, because of time.

My next topic is St. Clair/Bluewater.  There's been a considerable discussion about this.  And these facilities are being paid for by in-franchise ratepayers, as I understand it; is that correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And can these facilities be used to meet the transportation requirements of Union's unregulated storage business?  They are a connection to Michigan, are they not?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, they are.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And the context that I have in mind here is that Union Gas Limited had contracted on Dawn-Gateway, as I recall it, for 100,000 gJs per day.  And the costs of that contract were going to be allocated to its unregulated S&T business.  Have I got that straight?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And Union maintained throughout the Dawn-Gateway odyssey that it needed that service and it wanted the project to continue.  Have I got that straight?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And so my question is:  Can Union get the service that it needs from Bluewater and St. Clair, and, if so, where in the record is it that we see what the Union unregulated entity is going to be paying for that service?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.  Service that the unregulated business would need would be on the St. Clair pipeline, not Bluewater.  So it would be on the St. Clair pipeline.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, fine.  But is there anything in the record showing revenues from the unregulated business for using that line to get to Michigan?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That line was, until recently, taken out of regulation effectively through deferral accounts and such.

Going forward, we would allocate the cost of using that line to in-franchise customers.

MR. THOMPSON:  I know that, but you needed 100 to get to Michigan for the unregulated S&T business.  You didn't get Dawn-Gateway.

I am drawing the conclusion there is a possibility you're going to use St. Clair to do the same thing.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I agree with you.

MR. THOMPSON:  Pardon?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I did agree with you.

MR. THOMPSON:  So where is the revenue related to that usage?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The revenue is not in the forecast.  Again, the forecast was done in the spring of 2011.  But as I mentioned, we would include that revenue going forward.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, is that the 2 million we're talking about?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  No.  No, the 2 million is just S&T activity.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well what is, then, the revenue that is not there yet?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I have not done the calculation.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, would you mind?  Is it going to appear in 2013?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It will appear this coming winter when we bring -- we do use storage in Michigan.  So as we bring that gas back in next winter, over the winter/spring, it will show up then.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Could we have an undertaking, then, to provide an estimate of that revenue?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Sure.

MR. MILLAR:  J7.12.
UNDERTAKING NO. J7.12:  TO PROVIDE ESTIMATE OF REVENUE FROM UNREGULATED BUSINESS.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, the other use of transmission in the evidence, there -- as I understand it, Union affiliates, related parties, Heritage, Sarnia pool, Tipperary, take transportation service from Union Gas Limited, the regulated utility?

MS. CAMERON:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And my understanding is they are taking service on interruptible contracts, but they don't get interrupted; is that correct?

MS. CAMERON:  We haven't had the occasion to interrupt them, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  So could you just give us by way of undertaking the -- what impact it would have on the revenue requirement if each of those contracts for services were firm rather than interruptible.

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we will do that.

MR. MILLAR:  J7.13.
UNDERTAKING NO. J7.13:  TO IMPACT ON REVENUE REQUIREMENT IF INTERRUPTIBLE CONTRACTS FOR SERVICES WERE FIRM.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, utility storage optimization, there's been discussion of Union's encroachment on utility storage.  Do you recall that?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Sorry, I missed the beginning.

MR. THOMPSON:  Union's non-utility or unregulated encroaching on utility storage.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Last October?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  You had that discussion with Mr. Quinn.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, if that happened to a customer, what would they have to pay for overrunning their space?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  As I mentioned this morning, from a non-utility customer perspective, we've not actually invoiced the penalties that would be incurred.

There's two different numbers in our tariff that we have published on the web, the MPSS, market pricing storage service.  Off peak cost would be $6.00 per gJ.  On peak cost, being August, I believe, to mid-November or mid-December, I think it is, is $60.00.

MR. THOMPSON:  So could you give us by way of undertaking what the penalty would be to the unregulated storage business for that overrun that occurred last October?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Mr. Quinn already asked that question.  It is already on the record.

MR. THOMPSON:  Oh, I'm sorry.

MR. QUINN:  JT1.12.

MR. THOMPSON:  I must have fallen asleep.

Now, you had this discussion with Mr. Quinn about optimizing utility and non-utility storage, and I think I will just leave it there.

Ms. Elliott, you are back with us again, are you, on the finance, I hope?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I am, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, I've got some questions unaccounted for gas and intra period WACOG, but I will leave that for your next appearance.  Thank you very much, Madam Chair.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Mr. Millar, you have some questions?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I have a bit of a grab bag, panel, so I apologize if I skip around.

You will recall you had a discussion yesterday with Mr. Cameron, and you touched on it again today with Mr. Thompson, regarding the St. Clair line and the Bluewater line.  Do you recall that?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  I just want to make sure I have the facts right on these lines.  These are both lines that cross the St. Clair River; is that correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Union or its affiliate owns the St. Clair line; is that right?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The actual river crossing portion, that's true.

MR. MILLAR:  Is it Union or an affiliate?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  St. Clair Pipelines.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And it leases the Bluewater line?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  As currently.  The lease has been terminated by the actual owner, and that lease terminates next January.

MR. MILLAR:  That was my next question.  So the lease is being terminated by the owner?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So you do not have an option to renew that lease?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We do not.  We are in the process of building a brand new pipeline because of that.

MR. MILLAR:  That answers my question.  Thank you.

Yesterday, I believe it was you, Mr. Isherwood, in your discussion with Mr. Smith in his examination-in-chief, I don't know if you have the transcript handy.  This is the day 6 transcript.  I can read you some portions of it just to make sure you recall the conversation.

He asked you about the impact of Marcellus shale on Dawn.  Do you recall that?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  I am looking at page 91, 92, 93 of the transcript.

Then if you look at page 92, you discussed that you were getting some increased turnback of capacity at Dawn.

Just for my information and for the clarity of record, what is "turnback"?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  So customers that have contracts that are rolling year to year - i.e., they're no longer in the primary term - they have the right to turn back or return the capacity to the utility if they no longer need it.

On the M12, which is our main transmission service, the north period is two years.  So we have lots of notice they may not want their capacity.  So we would have gotten notice in October of 2010 for people turning back capacity November 1st of 2012, for example.

MR. MILLAR:  The bottom line is, when that happens, you get less revenue, to put it simply?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's right.

MR. MILLAR:  You discussed the risk associated with that I guess at the bottom of 92, 93.  You say:
"And in terms of what's going to happen between '14 and '19, the number that's exposed is very large.  The number that we think is high-risk, though, is probably another 800,000 gJs a day of capacity."


Do you see that?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  I just want to reconcile that with some of the things we heard from your previous cost of capital panel to make sure there is no inconsistency here.

We have heard probably a half a dozen times in one form or another throughout this proceeding that Union is not facing any additional business risk.  You would have heard that through this proceeding; is that fair?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I haven't read that transcript from that panel.

MR. MILLAR:  There were some IRs I believe, as well, and the witness testimony alluded to the same thing.  Are you familiar with that being Union's position?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, I am.  But I think I would add that in this particular case, on this one issue, there is potentially some risk, and I went on in the same discussion with Mr. Smith that we also have some growth opportunities of potentially another pJ.

So those two balance off, maybe slightly towards the turnback.  That's what keeps me awake at night, but we definitely have a balance between growth and turnback.

MR. MILLAR:  So although there may be increased risk in one area, it is more or less offset by some opportunities in another area?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, potentially.

MR. MILLAR:  That doesn't change the company's position with respect to whether or not there is any increased business risk?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It does not.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Skipping along, somebody had a discussion earlier today with Mr. Buonaguro about design day demands, and you looked at that chart.

I don't know that you need to pull it up, but I understood from that that your design day at least I think for the EDA, and you can correct me if I am wrong, is
a 47 degree day; is that correct?

MR. SHORTS:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  When was that value set?

MR. SHORTS:  The design day for the north is based, as Mr. Quigley said, on a one-in-50-years, so the coldest temperature in that area in the previous 50 years.  So that's been -- been the design day for quite a while in the EDA.

MR. MILLAR:  So there would have been a day within the last 50 years where it was minus -- I guess it is 18 plus 47?  Is 18 where you start for the degrees?

MR. SHORTS:  18 is the base, yes, and your math is probably better than mine.

MR. MILLAR:  I assure it is not.

MR. SHORTS:  There was at least one 47 degree day in the last 50 years, yes.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That would be minus 29.

MR. MILLAR:  Minus 29?  Okay.  Sorry, you don't happen to know when the minus 29 degree day was?

MR. SHORTS:  I believe it was in 1981, 47.1.  I don't have any more detail other than 1981, sorry.

MR. MILLAR:  So it's been a while?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Have you made any updates to how you do your design day -- I don't want to call it calculation, but you determine the design day, based on your weather methodology, which shows a slow but steady increase in temperatures?  Does that feed into your design day calculations?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I believe it is based on the actual coldest day in the last 50 years, so it would probably be independent of that.

MR. MILLAR:  How did you determine 50 years?  Is that some industry standard?  Or is that something Union arrived at?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It's been our standard for a number of years.  It may be industry.  I don't know.

MR. MILLAR:  You use 50 days (sic) for all of your zones?

MR. SHORTS:  No, it is different for each of the zones, and it's different for the south.

MR. MILLAR:  Why is that?

MR. SHORTS:  That's traditionally, I would say –- and again, I am speculating to a certain degree, but based upon the Centra, or the history, that is how Centra had continued to do theirs throughout the north.

Union south is a 44 degree day.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Sorry, was your question on the 50 years or on the actual degree days?

MR. MILLAR:  It was on the 50-year standard, as opposed to the actual degree days.

MR. SHORTS:  Oh, sorry.  In the north, yes, it is 50 degrees.

MR. MILLAR:  And the south?

MR. SHORTS:  Fifty –- sorry, let me rephrase that.  In the north, it is the coldest temperature experienced in the last 50 years.

MR. MILLAR:  What about in the south?

MR. SHORTS:  In the south it is a 44 degree day.


MR. MILLAR:  And that is historic, taken over from -- as far as you know?

MR. SHORTS:  As far as I know.

MR. MILLAR:  Have you had a look at these standards recently?  Is there any reason to think you might be overestimating the proper number of degrees?

MR. SMITH:  Sorry.  I just caution that Matt Wood, who will be coming up on the Parkway panel and has responsibility for facilities will have an understanding of this topic.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.  Given the lateness of the day, I will move on.

I just want to follow up on something Mr. Brett asked you earlier, purely by way of clarification.

He asked you about -- you were speaking about deferral account 179-100.  Do you recall that?

Indeed, I think that is at Exhibit A1, tab 6, page 5, a description of that account.  Again, A1, tab 6, Page 5.

Do you recall that discussion with Mr. Brett?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  I am going from memory here so I may be mistaken, but I understood you to say that there was an error in the description of that account; is that right?

MS. ELLIOTT:  There's a section of the accounting order that talks about the accounting for the benefit of assignments of un-utilized capacity.

We're actually doing that accounting in the UDC accounting -- in the UDC deferral account.  So the error is more of a housekeeping, moving that section from 179-100 to the UDC deferral account, which I think is 179-108.

MR. MILLAR:  So something is in the wrong house, essentially?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  In terms of, practically, how you are recording amounts into those accounts, are you currently doing it as the description of the account states?  Or the proper way, if I can call it that?

In other words, are you putting them in their correct house or are you putting them in the wrong house currently, because of the description of the account?

MS. ELLIOTT:  We're putting -- we're putting the benefit of the assignment of un-utilized capacity in the UDC deferral account, which, in my view, would be the correct account for it, not 179-100.

MR. MILLAR:  Although if you were to follow -- I'm not saying you are doing something wrong, but just to be clear, 179-100 says those amounts should go in that account.

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  You are proposing to tidy that up as part of this application?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  It is a zero-sum game, in any event?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Could I ask you to turn to Exhibit H1, tab 1, I think page 8?  I understand these are -- this binder was updated just the other day, if I am not mistaken.

I've got some questions about the use of utility transportation assets for the provision of non-utility storage service.

We may not have the right page here, and if we can't find it, I think I can probably just jog your memory from my notes.

Yes.  There's some discussion about the Heritage Pool, you see there?  I've got some different numbers in my notes here.  I think there may have been an update to this, but regardless, the numbers aren't terribly important.

I understand that you restated your revenue deficiency by what looks like $60,000 here, to recognize the use of regulated transmission assets by Union's unregulated storage operation at the Heritage Storage Pool; is that correct?

This is an offset to the revenue requirement?

MR. SMITH:  Mr. Millar if I could just ask, is this the old H binder or the new H binder?

MR. MILLAR:  Well, I think we have the old H binder on the screen.

My understanding is the number is now 57,000, as opposed to 60,000.  The exact number isn't important.

Maybe I can ask if there is just an offset to the revenue requirement for fifty to $60,000 for use of the regulated transmission assets by Union's unregulated storage operation.

MS. ELLIOTT:  That would be my understanding of this evidence, although you might want to speak to Mr. Tetreault directly about it.

MR. MILLAR:  Have I got the wrong panel for these questions?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Ah, perfect.

Ms. Cameron, there was a lengthy discussion with you on this topic in the technical conference.  Maybe that is why we assumed it was for this panel.

I want to make sure I am not missing the correct people.  We have questions about the extent to which the non-utility side of the business uses utility transportation assets.  I am hearing that is not for this panel.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think the actual use would be this panel.  Some of the cost treatment would be, potentially, Mr. Tetreault.

MR. MILLAR:  I see.  Well, let me go a little further, and if this is a dead end you can let me know.

Ms. Cameron, you will recall there was a fairly lengthy discussion about the extent to which Union, the non-utility side uses utility transportation assets for its storage services; do you recall that?

MS. CAMERON:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And essentially the answer was you don't use utility assets, or you use very -- or you very seldom or very slightly use utility transportation assets; is that correct?

MS. CAMERON:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And my understanding was this 57,000 or $60,000 for the Heritage Storage Pool is the only instance of you using utility assets for non-utility storage?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think the other example that Mr. Thompson brought forward would also apply, where we have non-utility storage activities in Michigan, and we're using the St. Clair line to bring that gas back to Dawn.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So you are using utility assets for that?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Are there any other examples of you doing that?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I guess the Tipperary Pool up in Huron County would also be using regulated assets, as well, but they're paying an M16 charge for those assets -- or for that use of that asset.

MR. MILLAR:  Does that count as an offset to the revenue requirement, as well?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It would.

MR. MILLAR:  And this is reflected in your current revenue requirement?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.  There has been a contract in place for a number of years.

MR. MILLAR:  And the Michigan situation you were discussing with Mr. Thompson, whatever revenues are accrued for that are counted against the revenue requirement?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  They will be.  They're not in the forecast at this point, but I committed that they would be going forward.

MR. MILLAR:  That is what you were just speaking about with him?  Okay.

Are there any other examples, either currently or that you can foresee for 2013?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Nothing that is not already built into the forecast.

The Airport Pool is also unregulated; it is a joint venture with AltaGas, but they also have an M16 contract that has been built into the forecast.

The only one that's not in the forecast is the use of the St. Clair line.

MR. MILLAR:  Generally, I think in the technical conference you indicated that non-utility storage business ill mostly use third-party transportation services to move gas; is that correct?

In other words, that is how you get around using utility assets?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We just listed a bunch that are using utility assets.

MR. MILLAR:  But otherwise?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Otherwise it would be third-party exchanges.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Again, I am conscious of the time.

Undertaking JT1.11, I'm not sure you need to pull this up, but if it is there, that's good.

You noted that when -- you noted that when your utility operations have excess transportation capacity on any contract, that capacity is auctioned off and any revenues accrued from the auction are credited to the benefit of ratepayers.  Is that correct?  That is done through the UDC deferral account?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I'm not sure what's on the screen is reflective of your question, but --


MR. MILLAR:  You can confirm that is the case?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Sorry, I was reading the screen.  I missed the question.

MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry.  When you have excess transportation capacity on a contract, it is auctioned off and the revenues are credited to the benefit of ratepayers through the UDC deferral?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  To the extent we have excess gas and we want to mitigate that excess, then we would assign away the capacity.

MR. MILLAR:  And I understand that the non-utility business does not bid for that capacity; is that correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And I think I know why, but could you give me an explanation as to why not?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It is typically the wrong path.  So the capacity we're assigning or auctioning off is things like Empress to EDA, or on Vector from Chicago to Dawn, or Panhandle up from the Gulf up to Ojibway.

MR. MILLAR:  If the path was the right one, though, you wouldn't bid, either.  I understand you never bid on it?

MS. ELLIOTT:   We never bid on it.  The one path we talked about at the technical conference was the Vector path from Chicago to Dawn.

And the non-utility or unregulated business has its own contract to go from Washington 10 to Dawn, so we use that contract.

MR. MILLAR:  So it is practical reasons, not a concern you would be sort of bidding for your own services?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It would be a little odd.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  But is that part of the reason, or is it simply that you never have need for that?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would say we -- well, never is a long time.

MR. MILLAR:  So there is no firm policy against you bidding on that capacity?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  There is no practice to do it, that's for sure.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  But no written policy forbidding you from doing it?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Mr. Thompson touched on storage encroachment, and I have a couple of follow-up questions there from a slightly different angle.

Mr. Isherwood, you or others on the panel are doubtless familiar with the EB-2011-0038 case.  That was one of the earnings sharing cases.  Is anyone on the panel familiar with that?  There has been quite a lot of discussion of that case, and, indeed, I think extracts of the decision are already on the record.

MS. CAMERON:  Yes, we are familiar.

MR. MILLAR:  I understand in 2009, both October and November, you did encroach on some utility space; is that correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And in the Board's decision, without necessarily getting into it, the Board ordered you to monitor these situations to let us know when that happened?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And it did happen again in October of 2011; is that correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And that is shown in -- I think it is C1, tab 6, appendix A.  You don't have to pull that up, but that is on the record.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  I understand, from your discussion with Mr. Thompson, Union doesn't pay any compensation for using that utility storage, do you?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  No.  We treat it in the same way we would treat an ex-franchise customer.  So if an ex-franchise customer overran our storage, we would work with them.  As long as their intent was to correct the situation as soon as they could, then we would not charge them the penalty, either.

MR. MILLAR:  So there is no -- ratepayers did not accrue any revenue to their favour because of those encroachments?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Not from that encroachment, no.

MR. MILLAR:  And you are not proposing that there be any -- Mr. Thompson talked about a penalty, but I am talking more of a charge for usage.  You're not proposing that Union's non-utility side would pay any amount for such encroachments in the future?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  No, we are not proposing that.  I think we took very quick corrective action and got back into balance fairly quickly.

MR. MILLAR:  Let's assume for a moment that there was no excess storage space available on the utility side and you had to find an alternative place to put the gas.

How much -- can we get a ballpark figure of how much that would cost?  I know it depends on volumes and how much space you need, et cetera, but surely there is a market cost for something like that.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  In the incident that happened last October, we overran by 1.6 pJs, and when we got back from the Thanksgiving weekend, we actually did several different deals that moved 2 pJs off of our system to get back into balance.

And to move that 2 pJs off our system cost us $1.1 million.

MR. MILLAR:  That is helpful.  Thank you.

So it is certainly of assistance to you to have this non-  -- if there is excess non-utility -- pardon me, utility space, it is certainly of assistance to you to be able to use that?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Our intent is not to use it.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, but you have?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Absolutely.  And that is our intent going forward, as well.

MR. MILLAR:  And if you couldn't use it, there would be some cost to you to find an alternate place to --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  There was a cost last fall.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

Do you recall in the Board's decision, I can pull it up if necessary on the screen, but the Board sort of referred to this practice as an insurance policy to allow you to have this sort of a backstop for your non-utility storage?  You could -- or at least you had the practice of encroaching on utility storage.

Do you recall that?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Sort of.

MR. MILLAR:  Do you agree with that characterization?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Well...

MR. MILLAR:  An insurance policy?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I guess insurance policy, you would normally be paying for the policy.

MR. MILLAR:  That was going to be my next question.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  And that's why my testimony even last year was we would typically be monitoring our position, and, if we anticipated getting into a difficult position or overrun, we would take action before it actually happened.

And that's what I tried to explain this morning.  The circumstances around the Thanksgiving weekend last fall is just such a rapid change in injections that it was unpredicted.

MR. MILLAR:  Are there insurance policies for this type of thing?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Not that I know of.

MR. MILLAR:  So you wouldn't want to hazard a guess on a pricing scheme if you were to seek insurance instead of having the ability to use -- to encroach on utility space?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think the one suggestion, and it might have been Mr. Quinn -- I can't remember which IR it was, but we do have -- on the utility assets, we do sell off-peak storage services that are intended to be very short term, a few weeks, a few days.

And we call it hub service, but it is basically readily available in the market, and people move gas in and out of the hub service pretty quickly and pretty frequently.

MR. MILLAR:  That might be a comparable --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  And I think what we said in our IR, or we certainly talked about, is it is not something we have ever done in the past, considered that to be a service available to us.  But from an unregulated point of view, it may be a value to the unregulated business and a value to the regulated business.

MR. MILLAR:  There would be a cost associated with that?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The base cost to use it is around 10 cents.

MR. MILLAR:  Ten cents per?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Per gJ.  There are lots of other parameters around it in terms of time, and that sort of thing, but 10 cents is sort of the entry level.

MR. MILLAR:  I won't press you further on it here, given the lateness of the day, but that is helpful.  Thank you.

I think I just have one area left.  I've got some questions about the short-term storage and margin-sharing account.  Would this be the right panel for that?

Ms. Elliott, you are our expert on all DBA matters.  Why don't I start and you can tell me if I have the wrong place?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Could I ask you to turn up Exhibit
J.DV-1-1-1?

And probably attachment 1 is what I am going to be referring to, but just for some of the background on this, I understand that Union's previous practice was to sell its non-utility storage space on a long-term basis and to sell its excess utility space on a short-term basis; is that right?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And your new proposal is to sell both long-term and short-term storage from non-utility storage space, while continuing to sell only short-term storage from excess utility storage space; is that right?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  So there would be some overlap for what you are selling on the utility and non-utility side; in other words, you will be selling short-term from both?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And, as I understand it, under this new scenario, the total margins received from the sale of all short-term storage will be allocated to the ratepayer and shareholder based on the utility and non-utility share of the total quantity of peak short-term storage sold each calendar year; is that right?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And that's a mouthful.  So we asked you to run through an example of that, which is the table we see before us now; is that right?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And before I get to the table, can you help me with the rationale for the change?  Why are you changing the policy?  Is it just because you can?  For example, why did you not sell short-term on the non-utility side previously?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Actually, the NGEIR decision did allow us to sell non-utility space both short-term and long-term.  The limiting factor for us today is really the wording of the deferral account.

So our request is to have a change in the wording of the deferral account to allow us to be able to sell non-utility space, short-term and long-term.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I understand what you're requesting.  I am just wondering why you are changing your -- why?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Just because it gives us more flexibility.  As I mentioned this morning, typically the short-term market can be a little higher priced than long-term market.

MR. MILLAR:  You get more revenues?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Potentially more revenue, but it diversifies verifies your portfolio, as well, with some short-term and some long-term.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I would like to go through this attachment 1 just to make sure we understand exactly how it works.

So in the example, I understand you have 10 petaJoules of excess utility storage space.  And that is what you see at line 2?  No, sorry, not line 2.  Line 6?  Pardon me.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So that's the amount you have for -- of the excess utility storage?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.  In this example.

MR. MILLAR:  And 10 is close to -- I understand it fluctuates from year to year, but 10 is --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Close.

MR. MILLAR:  -- a decent approximation of what it will be actually?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  At lines 6 and 7, you show -- I guess you're showing in this example at line 2 the total sales of 13 petaJoules?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Then you go down to line 6 and 7, 10 of that comes from the utility, excess utility, and the other three would be from the non-utility?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  So in other words, you take all 10 or whatever is available from the utility side first; is that correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  No.  What the proposal would be, we would sell during the year the 10 pJs and the three pJs, and come with a total revenue from the 13, and then divide that revenue three-thirteenths, if you will, to non-utility and ten-thirteenths to the utility.

MR. MILLAR:  Maybe I can ask this a different way.

Will you prioritize the sale of excess utility storage?  In other words, will you sell that before you sell the non-utility short-term storage?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We will sell it intermingled, but the pricing would be the average of the year.

MR. MILLAR:  So would we ever see a situation where you sell, for example, 10 non-utility versus three utility?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think because we're using an average price, it doesn't really matter what the order is.

MS. CAMERON:  Perhaps I could just add, we would sell all of the non-utility as short-term storage.

So the short-term peak storage sold would be always greater than the excess utility storage space.  So it would always be greater than line 5, always more than 10.

MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, I didn't -- could you say that again?

MS. CAMERON:  Of the short-term peak storage sold -- so if you think of -- in this example we said it was 13 here on line 2.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MS. CAMERON:  And the excess utility was 10.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MS. CAMERON:  We would always sell more than 10.  It is 10 or greater.

MR. MILLAR:  But does the 10 come from the excess utility side?  Or it could come from --


MS. CAMERON:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Whenever you sell more than 10, at least 10 of it, you will have sold all of the utility side?

MS. CAMERON:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Okay.  Thank you very much.

Thank you, panel.  Those are my questions.

MS. HARE:  Ms. Taylor has one short question.
Questions by the Board:

MS. TAYLOR:  I think it is for Mr. Isherwood.

When you were talking about the encroachment that you had last year over Thanksgiving, and that there was a cost or a penalty of $1.1 million to rectify the entire situation --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MS. TAYLOR:  -- where did that go?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Because we were faced with an excess length, and we always try to get -- we always are conscious of what happens on October 31st.  That is considered to be our peak storage volume, on October 31st.  In theory, that is the transition from fall into winter.

So we needed to get the gas off our system, not only for that week and that month, but into November, late November or even into December.

So we had to pay third-party marketers and other folks that would have capacity either at Dawn or Michigan or somewhere else, to take it off of our system and off of our account.

MS. TAYLOR:  Sorry.  What I meant was who paid the penalty?  Is it --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I'm sorry, the S -- the S&T business would have paid it.

MS. HARE:  Sorry, who paid it?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The S&T unregulated business would pay it.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Redirect, Mr. Smith?

MR. SMITH:  I don't have to ask my first question.
Re-Examination BY Mr. Smith:


MR. SMITH:  I had a question about -- I have a number of questions, but let's just start about a question with the Sarnia Pool.

I understand that the transportation contract in relation to Sarnia and perhaps some of the other pools is interruptible, as opposed to firm; is that correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And why is that?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Customers always have a choice of if they want interruptible or firm capacity.

And in some cases, if firm is not readily available, they would have to pay an aid-to-construct to get firm, and it is an economic decision they make in terms of firm versus IT.  It is a customer choice.

MR. SMITH:  Mr. Fay, we haven't heard from you for a while.  I will ask you a question.

There was some discussion yesterday about compression, as it relates to the Dawn-to-Dawn TCPL service; do you recall that?

MR. FAY:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  And when is compression required in the circumstance where you are taking gas from Vector?

MR. FAY:  To facilitate the TransCanada service from Dawn-to-Dawn TCPL, we diverted -- we were diverting volume 700-pound gas from Vector to the Great Lakes for delivery.

As a result of that, it displaces volumes from storage, which meant that there was a required compression to go from the storage to the 700-pound level, to replace that volume.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you, Mr. Fay.

Mr. Isherwood, you were asked a question by Mr. Quinn about selling excess utility space.  And just pausing there, I just want to make sure for the record we have the right terminology.

By "excess utility space" what space are you are referring to?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The Board has set aside 100 pJs of space for in-franchise use, and each year when we do our gas supply plan, we calculate how much space they will need based on the current loads of the system or the forecasted loads of the system.

And every year it changes a little bit.  We had talked about 10 pJs being kind of a round number, but it can be e11, 12 pJs.  It depends on the market, the markets.

So it is actually setting aside full hundred, only needing 98 -- or, sorry, 88 or 87, you would have 12 or 13 or some number like that excess.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  And the non-utility is the amount over the 100 pJs.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Non-utility is the amount above 100.

MR. SMITH:  Just returning to my question, you were asked a question about whether you would sell the excess utility space long-term; do you recall that?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I do.

MR. SMITH:  Now, in fairness, you indicated you would consider it.

Can you just -- hopefully this isn't too soon -- tell us what you think might be the advantages or disadvantages of doing that?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Of selling it long-term?

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The disadvantage is the Board has set aside the 100 pJs, and to the extent that the gas plan for this year is indicating you only need 88 or 89, we wouldn't want to sell that space longer-term, in that it would be unavailable in year 2 or 3 or 4 in case the gas supply plan changed or a new customer came on or a new power plant came on.

It has been set aside for in-franchise customers, and we can manage that by going yearly; it becomes more difficult to managing it going multiple years.

MR. SMITH:  Mr. Isherwood, Mr. Thompson in his cross-examination indicated the distinction between exchanges done by Union and those done by a marketer; do you recall that?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I do.

MR. SMITH:  And what, if any, distinction -- well, first of all, do you agree that there is a distinction?  And what, if any, distinction do you draw?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  An exchange done by Union Gas or an exchange done by a marketer would be the same transaction.

MR. SMITH:  Why do you say that, sir?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The definition of the exchange that we even presented in the very opening examination-in-chief talks about party A and party B.

So whether we're party A or the marketer is party A, it is the same transaction.

MR. SMITH:  And what about the gas flows?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  In terms of gas flows?

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  So in terms of an exchange, it can be -- we can be selling exchange where we're using an exchange to move the gas for a third party, or we can be buying an exchange in terms of wanting to move gas from point A to point B ourselves.

So we can either be a buyer or a seller; it's still an exchange.

MR. SMITH:  Ms. Elliott, you were asked a question by -- you were asked a question by I believe it was Mr. Brett, about the deferral account, various deferral account proceedings, and if FT RAM had ever been mentioned.

I am going to show to you Exhibit A from EB-2009-0101 and Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 4, and ask if this refreshes your recollection at all.

Well, I'm sorry, I don't have copies of Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 4, so I will just provide it to Ms. Elliott.

[Mr. Ripley passes documents to Ms. Elliott]


MR. SMITH:  We do have copies, I'm sorry.

[Mr. Ripley passes documents to Board Panel]


MR. SMITH:  I would just ask you to describe what is described at the bottom of Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 4.

MS. ELLIOTT:  There is a description at the bottom of that response to an interrogatory that describes the use of the FT RAM mechanism to provide exchange services in -- this is the 2008 deferral disposition proceeding.

MR. SMITH:  And, Mr. Isherwood, do you agree with the description that is set out in Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 4?

MS. HARE:  Should we give this an exhibit number now?

MR. SMITH:  I would ask that it be marked as an exhibit.

MR. MILLAR:  K7.4.  That is Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 4 from the EB-2009-0101 proceeding.
EXHIBIT NO. K7.4:  EXHIBIT B, TAB 1, SCHEDULE 4 FROM THE EB-2009-0101 PROCEEDING.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  You will ensure that the other parties get a copy of this?

MR. SMITH:  Absolutely.  Absolutely.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Can you repeat your question, please?

MR. SMITH:  Oh, I just asked whether you agreed with the description at Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 4 of the efforts made by Union at that time.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I do.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  Can I ask that Exhibit J3.1 be put up?  This is a question, I think, for Mr. Shorts.  Just looking at the purple line and the green line -- I'm just making sure I have the right lines.

Looking at the purple line and the green line, how do you -- how do you meet in the gas supply plan what is represented at the 140,000 gJs per day?

MR. SHORTS:  What you will notice there is we are using -- on a day in which we had a 140,000 gJ need, we would be counting on the long-haul FT pipe.  We would also be counting on STS withdrawals, and we would also need to count on the long-haul -- sorry, the short-haul firm pipe.

MR. SMITH:  And what is your reaction to a suggestion to use STFT or IT?

MR. SHORTS:  Because we're still needing to serve a firm load, we certainly would not look to an STFT type of service to provide that.

MR. SMITH:  Just a brief indulgence, if I may.

Those are all of my questions.  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Thank you very much, witnesses, for your testimony.  It was very helpful.  You are now excused.

We will stand down until Tuesday the 24th.  Mr. Smith, is it your intention to bring the finance panel next --


MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MS. HARE:  -- or Parkway?

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we will call the finance panel.  I think we are going to get into -- we will, based on the estimate, be into the Parkway panel, and that will continue, based on current estimates, into Wednesday.

MS. HARE:  Good.  Thank you very much.

MR. SMITH:  For Mr. Ross's benefit, I believe the intention was then, at the Board's request, we would have TCPL heard thereafter so we would be back to back?

MS. HARE:  That's right.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  That's acceptable?

MR. ROSS:  Yes.

MS. HARE:  Yes.  Okay, thank you.  Safe travels back.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:28 p.m.
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